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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT X & &E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yue
Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year
ended 31 May 2022 (the “Year”).

The Group is principally a Hong Kong-based marine construction works
subcontractor specialising in reclamation works and supplemented by vessel
chartering services and other civil engineering works. During the Year, the
Group continued to focus on marine construction projects as subcontractor
and actively sought after main contractor opportunities since the Group
was admitted as an approved contractor under Group B (Probation) of the
port works category in the List of Approved Contractors for Public Works in
October 2019. During the Year, the Group had successfully tendered and
been awarded with one marine construction project as main contractor
with total contract sum of approximately HK$34.7 million. In February and
May 2022, the patent for an enclosed reclamation method and a reclamation
equipment was successfully granted to the Group in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), respectively, demonstrating that our
approach to reclamation was well recognized and protected. Comparing
with traditional reclamation methods, the Group’s patented reclamation
approach s able to increase cost effectiveness and efficiency while decrease
environmental impact. Furthermore, in June 2022, the Group had established
a PRC subsidiary and commenced to explore and develop potential business
opportunities in the e-commerce sector.

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to approximately HK$212.3
million, representing a decrease of approximately 38.6% from that of the
previous year. Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$16.7 million.
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The outbreak of COVID-19 has temporarily and adversely affected the
market sentiment and dampened the local economy in general, the Group
will continue to explore other suitable business opportunities, execute our
business strategies, which may include possible expansion beyond the Hong
Kong market. Furthermore, the Group will continue to implement a series of
precautionary measures to ensure a hygienic and safe working environment
for our employees to achieve long-term sustainability of the Group under
the continuous development of the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”).

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deep gratitude
to our Shareholders, investors and business partners for their continuous
trust and support. We will continue to identify and seize suitable growth
opportunities in the coming years.

Heung Che Kan
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 August 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &I fE 57 7w B2 70 A

OUTLOOK

During the Year, the COVID-19 outbreak and the corresponding containment
measures, including social distancing and quarantine measures,implemented
by the Hong Kong Government from time to time, have had an impact on
Hong Kong's social and economic environments. It is expected that the
uncertainties due to the ongoing development of COVID-19 shall continue
to affect the economic recovery of Hong Kong temporarily. The top priority
of the Group is the health and safety of our staff, customers and business
partners, which in turn will allow the Group to continue its business
development.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to explore suitable business
opportunities and execute our business strategies. While the Group shall
continue to maintain its relationship with existing customers, it shall also
expand its customer base to capture opportunities from new customers
and respond to the changing customer’s demand by adapting accordingly
in a timely manner. In July 2022, the Group was awarded with two port work
contracts as main contractor under the public sector for the first time, with
an aggregated contract sum of approximately HK$261.4 million from Civil
Engineering and Development Department of the Hong Kong Government.
We believe that our proven track record and previous experience from
various types of projects will enable us to provide a wide range of quality
and professional services to our customers, potential customers and react
to the changing needs of our customers more efficiently and effectively.

Besides, the Group will also continue to dedicate resources to advance its
market and engineering capacities in the e-commerce section, both of which
are essential to its strategy to explore and tap the demand from segment with
growth potential and diversify the income source of the Group. In June 2022,
a PRC subsidiary was established and the Group commenced its operations
in e-commerce business. The Group will continue to take a prudent approach
to monitoring the relevant business development in the PRC.

It is the Group’s business strategy of building a diversified and balanced
business portfolio, comprising construction business as well as e-commerce
business, which will present the Group with favourable long-term prospects,
and is in line with the Group’s sustainable corporate strategy to broaden its
income stream with the goal of achieving stable, long-term and attractive
returns for the shareholders.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally a Hong Kong-based marine construction works
subcontractor specialising in reclamation works and supplemented by
vessel chartering services and other civil engineering works. The Group also
commenced its operations in e-commerce business in June 2022. During
the Year, there has been no significant change to the principal business
operations of the Group. The Group recorded total revenue of approximately
HK$212.3 million and profit attributable to its owners of approximately
HK$16.7 million for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE sy im B 94T

Marine construction works

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue from marine construction
works of approximately HK$138.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 16.8% compared to that for the year ended 31 May 2021 (i.e.
approximately HK$166.9 million). The decrease was mainly attributable to
the decrease of sizeable marine construction projects undertaken by the
Group during the Year and five out of six projects on hand as at 31 May 2022
were in their later stage of construction.

Gross profit of marine construction works for the Year was approximately
HK$25.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately 34.6% as
compared to approximately HK$39.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2021.
The overall gross profit margin of marine construction works decreased from
approximately 23.7% for the year ended 31 May 2021 to approximately 18.6%
for the Year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the lowered tender
price as a result of keen competition in the Hong Kong construction market
in general; (i) increase in rental cost of vessels and price of diesel fuel due to
inflation and market price fluctuations; (iii) certain projects with prolonged
project schedule and the corresponding additional costs resulting from the
COVID-19 containment measures implemented in Hong Kong due to the
outbreak of the new wave of Pandemic during the first half of 2022; and (iv)
several vessels that were modified specifically for one port work project in
Shatin were idled as the delivery of materials for fabrication purposes was
severely disrupted and a loss of approximately HK$2.7 million has been
incurred for that particular project due to prolonged schedule.

Other civil engineering works

During the Year, the revenue derived from other civil engineering works
amounted to approximately HK$60.0 million (year ended 31 May 2021:
approximately HK$160.4 million), accounted for approximately 28.3% (year
ended 31 May 2021: approximately 46.4%) of the total revenue of the Group.
The decrease in revenue derived from other civil engineering works was
primarily due to the completion of one sizeable project in Lamma Island
in December 2021, with an initial contract sum of approximately HK$44.8
million, and the award of a new Tuen Mun project in May 2022, with an initial
contract sum of approximately HK$125.5 million, which contributed only a
small amount of revenue for the Year.

Gross profit of other civil engineering works for the Year was approximately
HK$2.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately 82.7% as compared
with approximately HK$13.0 million for the previous year. The overall gross
profit margin of other civil engineering works decreased from approximately
8.1% for the year ended 31 May 2021 to approximately 3.8% for the Year.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to cost of approximately HK$0.9
million incurred to fulfil a contract in Three-runway system at Chek Lap Kok
Airport (the “3RS”) can no longer be recovered and charged to profit or loss
accordingly and the drop in revenue in civil engineering works resulting in
a decrease in the overall gross profit to cover the fixed cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &I fE 57 7w B2 70 A

During the Year, the Group has undertaken 15 projects and the aggregate
initial contract sum amounted to approximately HK$462.7 million. Out of
those 15 projects, six projects have been completed during the Year and,
based on the information available and barring unforeseen circumstances,
all of the remaining projects are expected to be completed during the
year ending 31 May 2023. Set out below is the information of the projects

NAEE  REEDAE15EER - MHRE0E
FBEENR462 7B 8B o ZISEBEAH - X
MEEERAFERK @« MBEAISHER K
BRARTERAERT  HHFTEAEE HHERE
BT -ZFRAZTBUEFETK - AT A
AEBRAFEAZNBEENER

undertaken by the Group during the Year:

Status as at 31
Site Location/Project Role Segment Type of Works May 2022
RIBE--HFHA
823 B 18 B At 2 &R TRRER =t+—BHRRE
Tung Chung Subcontractor Marine construction works ~ Reclamation works Completed
i DEB BEREETE HETE B
Tung Chung Subcontractor Marine construction works ~ Reclamation works Completed
BOR DA BERETIR BT BT
Tung Chung Subcontractor Marine construction works ~ Reclamation works In progress
L DEB BERETE HETRE #EITH
Tung Chung Subcontractor Marine construction works ~ Reclamation works Completed
BB DEB BEEETIE HETE BT
Tung Chung Main contractor Marine construction works  Artificial reef trial works In progress
BR BAEGER BEEETIR ATLRERARTE E1TH
Shatin Subcontractor Marine construction works  Construction works for In progress
rowing boat launching
facilities
pigss DEB BEEETRR SIfE TKRMEEE TR HEITH
Tai O Subcontractor Marine construction works  Repair and modification In progress*
works of seawall
KR DER BEREETE TR MEE RN T2 HEITHR*
Lamma Island Subcontractor Marine construction works  Excavation and lateral In progress*
support (the "ELS") and
marine works for intake
chamber
BYS DER BEREETRE HEKONZE R BIMAE TP
( [EERAIEEE] )
KBETR
Sha Chau Main contractor Marine construction works ~ Repair works at jetty In progress*
structures
M HBAEGER BEREETIZ RIS BAEE TAE HEITH*
3RS Subcontractor Marine construction works ~ Reclamation works Completed*
—WEER DER BERETIR HAEBTRE B2 7em*
Lamma Island Subcontractor Other civil engineering Foundation works Completed
works
BS DERE Hitb £ ARTH2 WETR w199
To Kwa Wan Subcontractor Other civil engineering Foundation works Completed*
works
T DERE Hih +RTHE A TIE B e
Tung Chung Subcontractor Other civil engineering ELS works In progress*
works
L DER Hih + KT ZHREAImAETE TR
North Point Subcontractor Other civil engineering Slope upgrading, site In progress*
works formation and ELS
it A DER Hth+ARTHE RERTHAR - R FRIZ T~
8 K Al A
Tuen Mun Subcontractor Other civil engineering ELS and pile cap works In progress*
works
! DER Hih+ARTHE 23 Al mASERIFE DR HEITH*
I
& Newly awarded during the Year RAFEHERT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE sy im B 94T

Vessel chartering services

During the Year, the revenue derived from our vessel chartering services
amounted to approximately HK$13.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 27.0% compared to that of the year ended 31 May 2021 (i.e.
HK$18.3 million). The decrease was mainly attributable to the completion of
three vessel chartering services contracts during the Year and no new vessel
chartering services contract was awarded. The gross profit margin of vessel
chartering services was approximately 15.7% and 18.6% for the Year and the
year ended 31 May 2021, respectively. In general, the Group would usually
derive a higher gross profit margin for shorter chartering period, since the
chartering period of those vessel chartering arrangements for the Year were
longer than 12 months, the gross profit margin decreased as compared with
that of the year ended 31 May 2021.

As at 31 May 2022, there were three vessel chartering arrangements in
progress with estimated aggregate initial contract sum of approximately
HK$38.8 million. Out of the above three vessel chartering arrangements, one
vessel chartering arrangements is expected to be completed during the year
ending 31 May 2023 and two vessel chartering arrangements are expected to
be completed during the years ending 31 May 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Otherincome

The Group’s other income decreased from approximately HK$2.7 million for
year ended 31 May 2021 to approximately HK$1.7 million for the Year. The
decrease was mainly due to significant decrease in the government subsidies
obtained from the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Year.

General and administrative expenses

The general and administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$11.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
20.6% compared to approximately HK$9.7 million for the year ended 31
May 2021. Such increase was mainly attributable by (i) the increase in legal
and professional fee of approximately HK$0.3 million; (i) increase in loss on
disposal of plant and equipment of approximately HK$0.5 million; and (iii)
increase in staff costs of approximately HK$0.9 million for the Year.
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Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$212.3 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 38.6% from approximately
HK$345.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2021. Gross profit decreased
by approximately 46.1% from approximately HK$56.0 million for the year
ended 31 May 2021 to approximately HK$30.2 million for the Year. The overall
gross profit margin of the Group decreased from approximately 16.2% for
the yearended 31 May 2021 to approximately 14.2% for the Year. The above
was primarily attributable to a decrease in the number of sizeable projects
undertaken by the Group during the Year, the lowered tender price as a result
of keen competition in the Hong Kong construction market in general, an
increase in rental cost of vessels and price of diesel fuel due to inflation and
market price fluctuations, certain projects with prolonged project schedule
and the corresponding additional costs resulting from the COVID-19
containment measures implemented in Hong Kong due to the outbreak of
the new wave of Pandemic during the first half of 2022, and several vessels
that were modified specifically for one port work project in Shatin were idled
as the delivery of materials for fabrication purposes was severely disrupted.
The Group's gross profit were adversely affected, which also led to a decrease
in the total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by approximately 55.6% to approximately HK$16.7 million for the
Year from approximately HK$37.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2021.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Group has funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through internal cash resources.

As at 31 May 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$85.2 million (including cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits) (31 May 2021: approximately HK$124.5 million). The year-on-year
decrease was mainly due to payment for purchase of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$28.5 million and dividends paid to the
equity shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$25.0 million.
The interest-bearing borrowings of the Group as at 31 May 2022 was
approximately HK$1.0 million (31 May 2021: approximately HK$1.6 million).
As at 31 May 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group, calculated based on
the amount of total interest bearing liabilities divided by total equity, was
approximately 0.5% (31 May 2021: approximately 0.8%), representing a
decrease of approximately 37.5%.

Final dividend

The Board resolved not to recommend any dividend for the Year (31 May
2021: approximately HK$25.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledge of assets

As at 31 May 2022, the Group’s bank deposits of HK$10.0 million were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s surety bond issued by a bank (31 May
2021: Nil).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most of the operating
transactions such as revenue, expenses, monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As such, the Directors are of the view
that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and that we shall
have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange requirements if they
arise. Therefore, the Group has not engaged in any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk during the Year.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 May 2022, the Group employed 62 employees (31 May 2021: 46).
Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$30.9 million (year ended 31 May 2021: approximately
HK$31.2 million). Individual performance is rewarded through the Group’s
salary and bonus system. The Group conducts annual review on salary
increase, discretionary bonuses and promotions based on the performance
of each employee.

During the Year, the Group has not experienced any significant problems
with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced any material
difficulties in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

Capital commitments
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 May 2022 (31 May 2021: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

At 31 May 2022, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of
surety bonds to guarantee for the due and proper performance of the
obligations undertaken by the Group's subsidiary for projects amounting
to approximately HK$179,813,000 (2021: HKSNil) in its ordinary course of
business. If the Group fails to provide proper performance, the customers
may demand the Group to pay them the sum or sums pursuant to the
contracts. The maximum exposure to the surety bonds was approximately
HK$20,410,000 (2021: HKSNil), which is the same as the carrying amount of
the surety bonds given.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &I fE 57 7w B2 70 A

Material acquisitions and disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant investments held

As at 31 May 2022, except for investment in subsidiaries, the Group did not
hold any significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

Future plans for material investments

The Group did not have other plans for material investments and capital
assets as at 31 May 2022.

Events after the reporting date

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or the
Group after 31 May 2022 and up to the date of this report.

Use of proceeds from initial public offering

The net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) of the share offer received by the
Company in relation to the listing (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited were approximately HK$84.0 million,
after deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and all related
expenses. The original proposed application of the Net Proceeds was set
out in the paragraph headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 23 November 2020 (the “Prospectus”).
Given the continuous development of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Company
will continue to evaluate and adopt a prudent and flexible approach for
utilising the Net Proceeds effectively and efficiently for the long-term benefit
and development of the Group. The expected timeline of full utilisation
is based on the Directors’ estimation barring unforeseen circumstances,
and may subject to changes based on the future development of market
conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE sy im B 94T

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10 May 2022,
the Board resolved to change the use of the unutilised net proceeds. The
following table sets out the original allocation, the revised allocation as at
30 April 2022 and the actual amounts used up to 31 May 2022:

Revised allocation
of the unutilised

WIMAATABMA_E-_—FHA+HNRAER
R EEELARRESCRBAMGRIEFEN
R - TREIIREDE  R_T__FHA=
+ENEBI AP EREE_E-_—FAA=1+—
HOEBRAER S
Utilised amount of Expected timeline

Net Proceeds from  Unutilised amount ~ of full utilisation of

Original allocation ~ Actualusageupto  Unutilised amount  Net Proceeds as at 1May2022to  of Net Proceedsas the remaining Net
of NetProceeds  the 30 April 2022  up to 30 April 2022 30 April 2022 31May2022  at31May2022 Proceeds
“ECCETR
R-R-FEBA -RECRCCE RORCCE
EE-®-F BECRCCE CARBA EASt-RB EASt-H
FEREFEN  MASTEN  MASTEN  FEREREN  FEREREN  FENEREN BUBRBTHEE
REsE  ERERKR ABALR BEITAR BBREE ABREE BELRANER
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T TEn Thn TEn TEL TR
Expanding fleet of vessels and site equipment 56,762 36,925 19837 9837 5100 4737 Byendof
N B November 2022
RO CET-REM
Recruiting additional full-time staff to operate additional 11,961 6,62 5,699 5,699 1048 4651 Byend of
vessels and site equipment to be acquired November 2022
ERENRETRETIURENRIMME bBRRA ZR-CE-ARH
Recruiting additional full-time staff 3758 3758 - - - - NA
ERENRET TER
Acquiring performance bonds and/or placing tender 7,118 7118 - 10,000 10,000 - NA
deposit oyl
ERRORESR/ATERETS
General working capital 4360 4141 19 19 219 - NA
—REEES i
83959 58,204 25,755 25755 16,367 9,388

As at 31 May 2022, approximately HK$74.6 million of the Net Proceeds had
been utilised and the remaining of the Net Proceeds were deposited in

interest bearing bank accounts of the Group with licensed banks in Hong

Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE R SR EEEBE 15

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Heung Che Kan ([@7&&h) (“Mr. Sherman Heung”), aged 67, is the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company. Mr. Sherman Heung is
responsible for the overall strategic management and development of the
Group's business operations. He was appointed as the Company’s Director on
24 May 2018 and re-designated as the Company’s Chairman and executive
Director on 24 May 2019. Mr. Sherman Heung is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. He has completed a Shipboard Cargo Handling
Basic Safety Training Course and was awarded with a certificate of training
in August 2016.

Mr. Sherman Heung possesses over 30 years of experience in marine
construction works and other civil engineering works, accumulated from
his employment and directorships in various construction and construction
related companies. His experience dates back to 1984 when he, together
with his business partners established his first construction company
for the provision of construction services. As he gradually developed his
experience, knowledge and connection in the industry, he, together with
his business partners at the material time expanded their business over time
and established various private companies from 1985 to 1991 to provide
construction and related services which ranged from marine construction
works, other civil engineering works, marine plant leasing and vessel leasing.
Apart from his business establishment, Mr. Sherman Heung also worked
for various construction companies where he participated in numerous
construction projects.

Mr. Sherman Heung is the father of Mr. Edwin Heung.

Ms. Lee Ming Chu Jade (ZEBAER) (“Ms. Lee”), aged 63, is the Company’s
executive Director and is responsible for the overall strategic management
and overseeing the human resources, financial and administration of the
Group's operation. Ms. Lee completed a Secretarial Studies Course from City
College of Commerce in May 1978 and obtained a Certificate for Contractors’
Accounts issued by Vocational Training Council in July 1987. In 1988, she
also obtained a Certificate for Second Level for Book-Keeping and Accounts
from London Chamber of Commerce Examinations Board. In December 1989,
Ms. Lee completed the Fundamental Management Certificate Programme
at The Hong Kong Management Association (“HKMA”). She then obtained
a Diploma in Accounting for Managers, and Marketing and International
Business at The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 1992 and
November 1994 respectively. In July 2014, she completed a Diploma in
Training from Hong Kong Federation of Trade Unions (“HKFTU") Spare-
Time Study Centre. Ms. Lee further obtained Distance Learning Certificates
in How to Manage a Limited Company-Company Secretarial Practices and
Procedures, and in Events, Exhibitions and Conferences Management from
HKMA/HKFTU Spare-Time Study Centre both in July 2014.
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Ms. Lee has over 40 years of secretarial and accounting experience in the
construction industry. Before commencement of business of the Group in
2010, Ms. Lee worked for various construction companies or contractors as
a secretary or accountant from 1979 to 2010.

Mr. Heung Yue Wing ([E# k) (“Mr. Edwin Heung”), aged 32, is the
Company’s executive Director and is responsible for overseeing the
operational management and quality control of the Group’s projects. Mr.
Edwin Heung completed his Bachelor of Aviation from the University of
South Australia in December 2015. Mr. Edwin Heung has completed his
Master of Business Administration of the City University of Hong Kong on
part-time basis in October 2021.

Mr. Edwin Heung has approximately nine years of experience in providing
technical support to the Group. In 2016, he was designated as the Group'’s
technical support officer and was primarily responsible for supporting the
3RS construction works. He also led and participated in the patent application
of the Group's special enclosed deposition method in the PRC and Hong
Kong. He was further promoted as the Group’s project technical manager
in May 2018 and was subsequently appointed as the Company’s executive
Director on 24 May 2019.

Mr. Edwin Heung is the son of Mr. Sherman Heung.

Mr. Ouyang Jianwen (BXR7#30) (“Mr. Ouyang”), aged 26, is the Company’s
executive Director and is responsible for exploration and development of
potential business opportunities in the e-commerce sector with a view
to diversify the Group's business scope, broaden the income base and
enhance the value for the Group and its shareholders as a whole. Mr. Ouyang
completed his economics degree in International Economics and Trade
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in July 2019. Mr. Ouyang
has previously served as an executive director of Beijing Digital Weilai
Technology Company Limited* (3t R B F 5 R EHE B BR A 7)), a company
principally specialized in software development, data processing and along
with big data and artificial intelligence technology.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Luo Hao (£&7%) (“Mr. Luo”), aged 38, is the Company’s executive Director
and is responsible for assisting in the development of e-commerce sector.
Mr. Luo obtained a master’s degree in Electronic and Communication
Engineering from Harbin University of Science and Technology in March
2014. Mr. Luo has accumulated extensive experience in internet software
development. From October 2013 to January 2014, he worked as an intern
trainee for Hithink Flush Information Network Co., Ltd.* (3 L i ¥ FI{EIE
Pis 1z B IXD AR A 7). He then worked for Weimeng Chuangke Network
Technology (China) Co., Ltd.* (A2 I8 R (REl) BRAF) from
January 2014 to August 2015 as an android software engineer. Later on, he
worked for Beijing Mexue Technology Company Limited* (1t ZoK R A
[R /2 7)) from December 2015 to December 2017, as an android manager.
Subsequently, he worked for Beijing Black Bear Network Technology Co.,
Ltd* (bR BAEBLEITIMTHR A R]) from January 2018 to July 2018 as a
technical director. Mr. Luo then worked at Beijing Miaoyijia Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (bt P E&{E(E BRI B PR A F)) from August 2018
to August 2019 with his last position as technical director. In September
2019, he joined Beijing Digital Weilai Technology Company Limited* (1t X
H TR AR EHEBBR A 7)) as chief technology officer and held this position
until April 2022.

Mr. Wong Yuk (EfB) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 51, is the Company’s executive
Director and is responsible for financial management and assisting to
manage the day-to-day business operations. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s
degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 1996. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in January 2004 and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in August 2005. Since
December 2019, Mr. Wong has been serving as company secretary of
XXF Group Holdings Limited, an established automobile rental service
provider. In addition, since December 2019, Mr. Wong has been serving as
an independent non-executive director of Hygieia Group Limited, a cleaning
service provider listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1650), where he has been primarily responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgement to the board of directors.

Mr. Wong started his career in KPMG Hong Kong in September 1996 and
left the firm as a senior accountant in April 1999. Mr. Wong also worked in
various financial, accounting and compliance related roles for a number of
Hong Kong and Singapore listed companies from October 1999 to October
2019, including subsidiaries of the Swire Group, Hong Kong and China
Gas Company Limited, Lung Kee Metal Ltd., China Oilfield Technology
Services Group Limited, Yuanda China Holdings Limited, Success Dragon
International Holdings Limited and Huanian Xinxing Chanye Jituan Company
Limited respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiu Tai Shing (AR K BX) (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 70, was appointed as the
Company’s independent non-executive Director on 13 November 2020. He is
also a member of each of the Nomination Committee, Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Chiu is responsible for providing independent
judgement and advising on the issue of strategy, performance, resources
and standard of conduct of the Group.

In June 1976, Mr. Chiu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Applied Science from
University of Toronto in Canada. He completed a course in the Estimating
Technology Il held by The Amalgamated Construction Association of British
Columbia in April 1991 and the 1992 Certified Professional Course for Use
and Occupancy Requirements at The University of British Columbia in July
1992. He further obtained a degree of Master of Science from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 2006. In September 2018, he further
completed an executive program of Artificial Intelligence: Implications for
Business Strategy at Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Sloan School
of Management.

Mr. Chiu was registered as a professional engineer of Association of
Professional Engineers of Ontario in February 1981 and as a professional
engineer of The Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists
of British Columbia in August 1992. He was then admitted as a certified
professional of Union of British Columbia Municipalities in Canada in April
1993. Later on, he was admitted as a member of The Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers and a member of National Fire Protection Association in
March 2004 and September 2011, respectively. He was also appointed as a
professional assessment assessor of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
for the 2014/2015, 2015/2016 and 2017/2018 sessions.

Mr. Chiu has over 40 years of experience in the engineering and construction
industry.
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Mr. Wan Wai Wing (BEY%¥) (“Mr. Wan”), aged 44, was appointed as the
Company'’s independent non-executive Director on 13 November 2020. He
is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each
of the Nomination Committee and Audit Committee. Mr. Wan is responsible
for providing independent judgement and advising on the issue of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

In November 2000, Mr. Wan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Surveying from The University of Hong Kong. He then obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Laws from University of London (distance learning) in August
2006. He further obtained the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws and a degree
of Master in Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution from City University
of Hong Kong in July 2008 and October 2012, respectively.

Mr. Wan was admitted as a professional member of The Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
in May 2005. Later, he was admitted as an associate of The Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators in July 2005. He was admitted as a registered professional
surveyor in the quantity surveying division of the Surveyors Registration
Board of Hong Kong in July 2006. Mr. Wan was then admitted as a member
and a fellow of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in October 2012 and
December 2012, respectively. He was further admitted as a member of the
joint panel of arbitrators of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and Hong
Kong Institute of Architects in 2013. Subsequently, Mr. Wan was admitted
as a fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators and a member of the panel
of adjudicators of Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre in July 2014
and 2018, respectively.

Mr.Wan has accumulated extensive experience in the quantity surveying and
legal industry. He began his career as a quantity surveyor at Davis Langdon
& Seah HK Ltd. from July 2000 to June 2003. He then worked for Consultant
Associates (H.K.) Limited from July 2003 to May 2011 and his last position held
was assistant director. Subsequently, he joined Wong & Lawyers (formerly
named as Chan & Associates) as a trainee solicitor in May 2011, and as a
solicitor after his admission as a solicitor of Hong Kong in July 2013.
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Mr. Fung Hoi Fung (5 /&) (“Mr. Fung”), also known as Fung Hoi Fong
and Fung Bing Sun (f51A%2), aged 63, was appointed as the Company’s
independent non-executive Director on 13 November 2020. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Fung is responsible for providing independent judgement
and advising on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and standard
of conduct of the Group.

In July 1985, Mr. Fung obtained an Accounting Diploma from Hong Kong
Shue Yan College. He then obtained a degree of Master of Professional
Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 2007.

Mr. Fung was admitted as an associate and registered as a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants in April 1997 and May
1999, respectively. He was then admitted as a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in May 2002. Since 2008, Mr. Fung has been
admitted as an ordinary member of The Society of Chinese Accountants &
Auditors. In June 2010, he was registered as a Certified Tax Adviser of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fung has over 30 years of experience in the accounting and finance
industry. He worked for Glass Radcliffe & Co. Chartered Accountants, Certified
Public Accountants, Hong Kong from September 1985 to September 1986 as
an audit trainee and was promoted to audit team leader in October 1986. He
was further promoted to the position of audit supervisor in January 1989 and
remained in such position until he leftin April 1989. Mr. Fung then worked at
Deutsche Morgan Grenfell Hong Kong Limited from April 1989 to February
1997, with his last position as an accounting manager. Later on, he worked
for Glass Radcliffe Chan & Wee, Certified Public Accountants from April 1997
to May 1998, as an assistant manager. He then worked for Sun Sang (King
Fung) Printing & Dyeing Company Limited from May 1998 to May 2000 as a
financial controller. In January 2001, he founded Fung Hoi Fung & Co. and
continued to operate his accounting firm to the present.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Kwok Cheong (2] &) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 47, was appointed
as the Group’s project manager on 1 August 2018 and promoted as project
director on 1 August 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall
management of the Group'’s projects, daily monitoring of operation and
supervision of sites.

Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Civil Engineering
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2001.

Mr. Leung was elected as a chartered professional engineer member of
Engineers Australia in the Civil College in January 2008. He was also admitted
as a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in June 2008 and registered
as a chartered engineer by the Engineering Council UK in August 2008. In
October 2009, he was elected as a member of The Institution of Highways and
Transportation. In December 2018, he obtained a Certificate of Accreditation
from the Institution of Civil Engineers of the United Kingdom for completion
of the NEC3: Engineering and Construction Contract Project Manager
Accreditation and is eligible for inclusion on the Register for Accredited NEC
professionals held by the Institution of Civil Engineers.

Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in the construction industry.

Mr. Wong Chi Ching Calvin (&) (“Mr. Wong"), aged 47, is the Group’s
project manager. Mr. Wong joined the Group as a project manager in March
2022.He s primarily responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
projects, daily monitoring of operation and supervision of sites.

Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the construction industry. Mr.
Wong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from University of Winnipeg in
1996 and Higher Diploma in Civil Engineering from Hong Kong Institute of
Vocational Education in 2002 and Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering
from Leeds Metropolitan University in 2013. Mr. Wong completed training
course for risk assessment & job safety analysis at the Occupational Safety
& Health Management Institute in 2014. He also completed the training
courses conducted by the Occupational Safety & Health Council for accident
investigation, safety inspections and hazard identification activity in 2014,
2015 and 2016. He is also the holder of certificate of Works Supervisor.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Ming Fai (5 #2¥&) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 43, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 24 May 2019. Mr. Yeung obtained
a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Civil and Structural Engineering
(Environmental Engineering) from The University of Hong Kong in November
2000, a degree of Bachelor of Laws from University of London (distance
learning) in August 2004, a Master of Laws from University of Glasgow in
December 2005 and the legal professional qualification of PRC in February
2007. He further obtained the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from City
University of Hong Kong in July 2011 and was admitted as solicitor of the
High Court of Hong Kong in August 2013.

Mr. Yeung worked for MWH (Hong Kong) Limited as a graduate engineer
during the period from September 2000 to July 2003. He then worked for
Zhong Lun Law Firm as a PRC trainee lawyer and subsequently as a PRC
lawyer from March 2007 to June 2009, and for Guanghe Law Firm as a PRC
lawyer from September 2009 to December 2010. He joined Robertsons Law
Firm as a trainee solicitor from April 2011 to May 2013 and was employed by
Cheung & Choy as a paralegal in July 2013 and worked there until September
2013. He was the company secretary of Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited,
a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from
March 2014 to October 2017. He worked for CMK Lawyers as consultant from
November 2017 to January 2018 and joined Patrick Mak & Tse as an associate
solicitor in February 2018. He is currently a partner of Patrick Mak & Tse.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in marine
construction works, other civil engineering works and provision of vessel
chartering services in Hong Kong. The Group also commenced its operations
in e-commerce business in June 2022. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The business review and outlook together with an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators of the Group for
the Year are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 13 of this annual report.
The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are set
out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal risks and uncertainties, and risk management

The Group’s business and operations is exposed to the following principal
risks and uncertainties:

Failure to guarantee new contract

The Group's revenue mainly relies on successful tenders of or acceptance of
tenders/quotations for marine construction works, vessel chartering services
and other civil engineering works which are non-recurring in nature. In the
event that the Group is unable to secure new contracts with successful
tenders or acceptance of quotations, or receive invitations for quotations
or tenders, the business and results of operations and financial performance
may be adversely and materially affected. The management shall continue
to seek new opportunities and develop the Group’s existing business.

Failure to diversify customer base by obtaining new projects from
existing and new potential customers

A significant portion of the Group's revenue was derived from contracts
awarded by a limited number of customers and any significant decrease in
the number of contracts with major customers may materially and adversely
affect the financial condition and operating results of the Group. In this
connection, the Group shall continue to diversify and broaden its customer
base, where appropriate.
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Project cost overruns

The actual time and costs incurred in a marine construction or other civil
engineering projects, which partly form the basis of the price determination
of tenders/quotations, may deviate from the estimated time and costs to be
involved in such project due to unexpected circumstances, thereby leading
to cost overruns and adversely affecting the operations and financial results
of the Group. As such, the Group will closely monitor and manage its project
costs in an effective manner.

Outbreak of COVID-19

During the Year, the Pandemic has affected many businesses, both locally
and aboard, to different extents. Based on the currently available information,
barring unforeseen circumstances, the Directors consider the Pandemic
would not have a prolonged material impact to the Group’s operations
having taken into account the past experience and ongoing circumstances.
However, given the unpredictability associated with the Pandemic and
the contingency measures that may be implemented by the relevant
governments and corporate entities from time to time, the impact of the
Pandemic, if any, on the Group’s operations in future could be significantly
different from the aforesaid expectation depending on how the situation
evolves. The Group will closely monitor in this regard and act prudently with
a view to minimise the possible uncertain impact arising from the Pandemic.

Industry risks

It is expected that during the forecast drop in the gross output value of
the marine construction works industry in Hong Kong between 2022 and
2026 (the “Forecast Downturn”), the Group will undertake significantly less
marine construction works due to the temporary decrease in reclamation-
related marine construction projects during the Forecast Downturn, the
result of which will also contribute to a change in project mix and revenue
contributions for the Group in the short term. Given the comparatively lower
gross profit margin of other civil engineering works as compared with that
of marine construction works in general, the expected change in project
mix by undertaking more other civil engineering projects may cause the
Group's overall gross profit margin to decrease and may adversely affect its
financial performance.

For further details of the risks and uncertainties of the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of protecting the environment and
strives to minimise the impact to the environment by reducing use of
energies and other resources. During the Year, the Group did not record any
material non-compliance with applicable environmental requirements that
resulted in prosecution or penalty being brought against the Group. During
the Year, the Group was not subject to any environmental claims, lawsuit,
penalties or any disciplinary action. For further information in relation to the
environmental policies and performance of the Group, please refer to the
Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 53 to 104.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Board and management are aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or the
Group after 31 May 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group recognises its employees as its valuable assets and the key to
business growth and success. The Group provides competitive remuneration
package and benefits to employees to attract and retain competent
employees. The Group also provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to employees to enhance their career development.

The Group endeavours to develop and maintain long-term relationship with
customers by delivering excellent works and quality services to them. The
Group holds regular meeting with customers to receive customers’ feedback
to understand their needs and expectation.

The Group has strong and stable relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors in order to ensure that quality goods and services are
provided to the Group. Suppliers and subcontractors are assessed on
their performances, safety records, non-compliance track records and
environmental awareness on an on-going basis.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years are included in the section headed
"Financial Summary” on page 184 of this annual report. Such summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 112 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend a payment of a final dividend to the
shareholders for the year ended 31 May 2022 (2021: approximately HK$25.0
million).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Friday, 7 October 2022 to
Wednesday, 12 October 2022, both dates inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible for attending
and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”), non-
registered shareholders must lodge all duly completed and stamped transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant shares certificates with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 pm on Thursday, 6 October 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATION
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the Year (2021: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 May 2022, the Company had no reserve available for distribution to
shareholders. Under Section 34 of the Companies Act (2022 Revision), Cap
22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 114 of this
annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentage of revenue attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 23.7% (31 May 2021:33.0%) and 75.1% (31 May 2021: 84.5%)
of the Group'’s total revenue, respectively.

During the Year, the largest subcontractor and the five largest subcontractors
of the Group accounted for approximately 24.6% (31 May 2021: 35.9%) and
54.3% (31 May 2021: 78.6%) of the Group's total direct costs, respectively.

During the Year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for approximately 2.9% (31 May 2021: 1.9%) and 8.4% (31
May 2021: 5.3%) of the Group's total direct costs respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in the major customers, subcontractors or suppliers
above.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Heung Che Kan (Chairman)

Ms. Lee Ming Chu Jade

Mr. Heung Yue Wing

Mr. Ouyang Jianwen (appointed on 24 December 2021)

Mr. Luo Hao (appointed on 20 July 2022)
Mr. Wong Yuk (appointed on 15 August 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Tai Shing
Mr. Fung Hoi Fung
Mr. Wan Wai Wing

In accordance with article 108 of articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Further, according to articles 111 and 112 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board or by ordinary resolution in general meeting either
tofill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM of the Company. The Directors to retire
at an AGM of the Company shall not be taken into account in determining
who are to retire by rotation at such AGM.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Heung Yue Wing, Mr. Ouyang Jianwen, Mr.
Luo Hao and Mr. Wong Yuk will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. Mr. Fung Hoi Fung shall retire from office as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the AGM and will
not offer himself for re-election. Mr. Fung Hoi Fung has confirmed that he has
no disagreement with the Board and there are no other matters that need to
be brought to the attention of the Shareholders in relation to his retirement.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years which may be terminated by either
party serving to the other party not less than three months’ written notice
of termination.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years which may
be terminated by either party serving to the other party not less than two
months’ written notice of termination.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANCE
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transaction disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Directors had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals are
set outin notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group for the Year falls
within the following bands:

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE g &

BREEETEH
RAFE  AEESREEEFHEN TIIEH
:

Number of person(s)

Band of remuneration g E AE
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z251,000,00078 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T 1

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
As at 31 May 2022, the Group did not hold any investment property.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives' interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures” below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or the
Company's subsidiary or holding company or a subsidiary of the Company’s
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement has been entered into during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Articles provide that every director shall be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses and liabilities incurred or sustained by him
as a director in the execution of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto,
provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such director.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

RAMR
RZZE-__FRA=+—0  ZREELERFE
AIREME -

EEWMARMRRGZER

BRTIXEEREBTHRAEBRKND - HEKD
REFTFHOEDELRE | —BAREEI KA
FERNEARRE  SEEFNEEFIRESE 2R
BERM185 T X ER AT FEE AR R R ZB M
ERNmZ BN - RENETETAEREER
HARA  RAREZHERRFIER A B K
RRABZERARZHBA R ITES BT ERR
B BEESAESNMEREMEABE G
&R -

B SR 1 S0 15
RAFEERT LR R BT EEARES
B o

EFEMFURESR

ARZIR - REEHEARNRREEER/BER
& BEERRRARRIERESHITERBRE Y
HENEMEEELXBENOMERAREAL -
HERZRIE R B AS TIER R E il E FHIEF T
HEABNEREE -

ARBEREZTRARASABELFEENE
EhEBBBRERBIRE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 £ 3§

29



30

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE&#H &

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which the controlling shareholders of the Company or an
entity connected with the controlling shareholders had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted during the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was conditionally adopted by the
written resolution of the Company’s then sole Shareholder on 13 November
2020. The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations. Further details of
the Scheme are set forth in the section headed “Statutory and General
Information — D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
No Share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Scheme since its adoption on 13 November 2020 and there is no outstanding
Share option as at 31 May 2022.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees (full-time and part-
time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the Group and
to promote the success of the business of the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may
think fit, grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), consultant, or advisor,
substantial shareholders, distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer,
business partner or service provider of the Group, who have contribution or
potential contribution to the Group. Each grant of options to any director
of the Company, the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of
the Company must first be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company.
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Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of the Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the Listing Date i.e. 222,400,000 Shares.

The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of
Shareholders in general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit.
The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting in granting options beyond the 10% limit provided the options in
excess of the 10% limit are granted only to grantees specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the Scheme and any other option scheme of the Company
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at
any time during a period as the Board may determine but shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Minimum period
The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be

exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of grant.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the
grant of an option is HKS$1.
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Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of:

() the closing price of the Company’s Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange'’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of the option,
which must be a business day;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Duration of the Scheme

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing from
13 November 2020 and shall expire at the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the controlling shareholders or the Directors of the Company and
their respective associates is interested in a business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
the Group’s business during the Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition dated 13 November 2020 (the “DNC”) has been
entered into by Mr. Heung Che Kan and Yue Hang Investment Limited (the
“Yue Hang” and collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) in favour
of the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries), with an aim
to avoid any possible future competition between the Group and the
Controlling Shareholders. Details of the DNC are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders have confirmed their compliance with the
undertakings of the DNC for the Year. The independent non-executive
Directors had reviewed the undertakings and evaluated the effective
implementation of the DNC and considered that the undertakings of the DNC
have been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS EFRIETBRARNRKD - HRAKRG
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING RESFPHESRIER

SHARES AND DEBENTURES
Asat 31 May 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directorsand chief ~ W —Z - —FHA=+—H EZRAQAE

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of EITBRABRARRHEMBEEE(EERE
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of 75 & B E 517 ([ 7 2 R A& AR B |) S XVER ) /OB
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were (a) notified to 7 - RO HESETHES@BREESMFEK
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part BIFEXVERZE7 )R85 BRE A& AN F) R Bk AT P 4
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken @ MoAR (BRREE S RIS G HIHE B8 (50
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) recorded in the EEIGAEBENERRAE) Sb)BEESR
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (c) otherwise BEIEMIE3I2EE RN AT EN S MNiER
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Ro#R (R BERN LR A+ £
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out TABFETESFRHRETRI([HESFA )

in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), were as follows:~ ARTAMERRNRIRERZFTOERS RBAT « -
(a) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company (a) REAREBRNER

Percentage of

Number of shares shareholding in

Name Nature of interest held/interested the Company

BE/BERERH RAED TR E

e EEME R{BE BAL

Mr. Heung Che Kan Interest in a controlled corporation 1,066,700,000 47.96%

RS EE R LB

Ms. Mok Man Yee Lisa Interest of spouse 1,066,700,000 47.96%

BEgRat [T e

Notes: BEE

1. Mr. Sherman Heung beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of 1. REHEEBZEEYue Hang2 ZE BT
Yue Hang. Therefore, Mr. Heung is deemed, or taken to be, interested in Koo FH  EBEALBEGEAMET @ Mk
all the shares held by Yue Hang for the purpose of the SFO. AR A EE YEA Yue Hang AT B IFTA B

DA -

2. Ms.Mok Man Yee Lisa is the spouse of Mr. Sherman Heung. Therefore, Ms. 2. EBEgRLtTAMESHEENRE - Bt - 5t
Mok Man Yee Lisa is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares BHELKBAEEAIMS @ EFAE L TR A
in which Mr. Sherman Heung has, or is deemed to have, an interested in EERMEE LB ER BEAREZDN
for the purpose of the SFO. iR D R A FEZS o

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 3k~ 33



34

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE&#H &

(b) Long position in shares of the associated corporation of the

(b) RELQTEEEERODOEFR

Company
% of the issued
Name of the Number of voting shares
associated shares held/ of associate
Name corporation Nature of interest interested corporation
HRBSEEE 2
BE HeEz TARRERS
#®A HBCEEERE FEmE KR E B HWEZL
Mr. Sherman Heung Yue Hang Beneficial owner 1 100%
mEErE Yue Hang EnEAA
Ms. Mok Man Yee Lisa Yue Hang Interest of spouse 1 100%
BT Yue Hang [Ty
Notes: BT
1. Theissued share capital of Yue Hang is fully owned by Mr. Sherman Heung. 1. Yue HangMBEBITRAMMAEE L2 EH
Ao
2. Ms.Mok Man Yee Lisa is the spouse of Mr. Sherman Heung. Therefore, Ms. 2. EBEHRLZTAREHEENERE - Bt - 5t

Mok Man Yee Lisa is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares
in which Mr. Sherman Heung has, or is deemed to have, an interested in

for the purpose of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 May 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fell to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

EHMPEELIME - EERLLREHX
BEERASHEERGIRE SEAERDN
PR R HE AR -

FERRRERMRERMKGROHER R

RE

AL

3361578

RZBE__FHA=+—H  BEEHMM - AT

FEFH AR EETHAB)RARA

B tn M ABRARR 1D R A AR IR RE 75 M HR B (&R P E XV

BBFE 2R E 3N BRI R AR B M R R
BEEIAR - NEENRIBEES MR EREIE

AREFENB DM ESETAE

Percentage of

Number of shares shareholding in

Name of shareholder Nature of interest held/interested the Company

BEREEEN RAR R HY IR
REREHE ERME RG5EE BatE
Yue Hang Beneficial owner 1,066,700,000 47.96%
Yue Hang E=EAA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 May 2022, none of the substantial or
significant shareholders or other persons, other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company whose interests are set out in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, had any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities was made
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
37 to 52 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the Laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any non-exempted
connected transaction which requires relevant disclosure pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules since the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed by the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any
other pension scheme for the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yue Kan Holdings Limited
Heung Che Kan

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 August 2022
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The Board recognise the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders. The Board believes
that high standards of corporate governance provide a framework and solid
foundation for the Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency,
achieve high standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. During the Year, the Company has
complied with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The summary of their
work during the Year is as follows:

. developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

. reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Group;

. reviewed and monitored the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and

. reviewed the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the guidelines for the
Directors’ dealing in the securities of the Company. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have fully
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board
The composition of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Heung Che Kan (Chairman)
Ms. Lee Ming Chu Jade

Mr. Heung Yue Wing

Mr. Ouyang Jianwen (appointed on 24 December 2020)

Mr. Luo Hao (appointed on 20 July 2022)

Mr. Wong Yuk (appointed on 15 August 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Tai Shing
Mr. Fung Hoi Fung
Mr. Wan Wai Wing

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has submitted a written
statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and
has undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if
there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence prior to their respective appointment. The Company has
also received a written confirmation from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in respect of theirindependence for the Year. The Board
considers that all independent non-executive Directors are being considered
to be independent with reference to the factors stated in the Listing Rules
during the Year.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

Procedure for seeking independent professional advice by
directors

The Company has agreed to provide separate independent professional
advice and sufficient resources to Directors and all Board Committees to
assist them to discharge their duties. The Company has developed a written
procedure to enable Directors, and members of all Board Committees upon
reasonable request, to seek and be provided with independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
13 November 2020. The Company embraced the benefits of having a diverse
Board, as such, the Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to
maintain diversity of the Board. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy,
together with the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed as below:

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

When determining the composition of the Board, the Company will consider
board diversity in terms of, among other things, gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates for Board membership will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. The
Company will use its best efforts to maintain not less than 20% female
representation in the Board by the end of 2024, subject to Directors (i) being
satisfied with the qualification and experience of the relevant candidates
after a reasonable review process based on the relevant criteria; and (ii)
fulfilling their fiduciary duties to act in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole when making the relevant appointments. The
Company will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting
staff at mid to senior levels such that the Company will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successor to our Board in a few
years' time in future.

Monitoring, Reporting and Review

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
annually in the corporate governance report and monitor the implementation
of this Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 13

November 2020 in respect of the selection and appointment of Directors

with a view to ensuring that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and

diversity of perspectives suitable for the Company’s business.

Selection Criteria as the Measurable Objective

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend

candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to

criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a)

Skills, knowledge and experience which are relevant to the operations
of the Company and its subsidiaries;

Diversity to compliment the existing composition of the Board
including but not limited to gender, age, experience, cultural and
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how;

Commitment to ensure the devotion of sufficient time to carry out
their duties to attend board meetings and to participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities, and reasonable
consideration against the numbers of their services on other listed
and non-listed companies;

Integrity and character that satisfies the Board and the Stock Exchange;
and

Independence in particular for independent non-executive Directors
as required under the Listing Rule.
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Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following respective
procedures and process:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

For the appointment of new Director, the Nomination Committee
may take measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its identification and evaluation of a candidate. Upon compilation and
interview of the list of potential candidates, the Nomination Committee
will shortlist candidates for consideration by the Board based on the
Criteria and such other factors that it considers appropriate;

For the re-election of Director subject to retirement obligations
pursuant to the Articles at general meeting of the Company, the Board
shall consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at general meeting; and

For the appointment through nomination by Shareholders to stand
for election as a Director at a general meeting, a Shareholder circular
containing, among others, biographical details of such nominated
candidate, must be lodged with the company secretary of the Company
within the lodgment period, thereafter, a supplementary circular
containing particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
Shareholders for information.

Notwithstanding the above, the Board has the final authority on determining
suitable candidate for appointment as Director.

Monitoring, Reporting and Review

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually, in the Corporate

Governance Report, on the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 7
December 2020 which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. According to the Dividend Policy, in considering the payment of
dividends to allow Shareholders of the Company to participate in the
Company'’s profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future
growth, the Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
. the general business conditions and strategies of the Group;

. the expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans of the Group;

. the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

. the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio and return on equity as
well as financial covenants to which the Group is subject to;

. the Group's liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividends;

. the statutory and regulatory restrictions which the Group is subject to
from time to time;

. the general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

. any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the laws of Cayman Islands and the Company’s
Articles. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to
time. There can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other Board
meeting has been held during the Year for appointing of Directors of the
Company, etc. Such Board meeting involve the active participation, eitherin
person or through other electronic means of communication, of a majority
of Directors. The Directors make every effort to contribute to the formulation
of policy, decision-making and the development of the Group’s business.

During the Year, a total of five Board meetings were held. Various meetings of
the Remuneration committee, Nomination committee and Audit committee
have also been held. The Chairman has had a meeting with independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of the executive Directors.

Directors’ Attendance at the Board/Board Committee/General
Meeting
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the EEENAFELFESS SR EFZEEQ
Board, Board committee meeting and general meeting during the Year are & R AR g ER E F AR SRS T
set out below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings Held
HEBITERRH
Annual
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Director EEMF EXgeE ENRZEEE FHWZEEE REZEE RREFAS®
Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. Heung Che Kan R E LA 5/5 - - 2/2 1/1
Ms. Lee Ming Chu Jade FHHRZ T 5/5 - - - 1/1
Mr. Heung Yue Wing R K ST 5/5 = = = 1/1
Mr. Ouyang Jianwen (Note 1) EAfZ23054E (FIFET1) 12 - - - -
Mr. Luo Hao (Note 2) wishE () = = = - -
Mr. Wong Yuk (Note 3) FTaxE (fEEs) - - - - -
Independent BIUEBTES:
Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chiu Tai Shing YN 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Fung Hoi Fung SBEE 5/5 3/3 2/2 = 1/1
Mr. Wan Wai Wing BETREAE 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 11

Note 1: Appointed on 24 December 2021.
Note 2: Appointed on 20 July 2022.

Note 3: Appointed on 15 August 2022.
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Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for attending regular
and other board or board committee meetings. Meeting agendas and other
relevant information are provided to the Directors in advance of board or
board committee meetings. All Directors are consulted to include additional
matters in the agenda for such meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes will be sent to all Directors
for their comment and records. Minutes of board and board committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any Director.

All directors are also entitled to have access to board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials are in a form and quality
sufficient to enable the board to make informed decisions on matters placed
before it. Queries raised by directors shall receive a prompt and full response
by the management.

Role and responsibilities of the Board and management

The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in good faith, with
due diligence and care, to discharge their duties in the best interests of
the Company and its shareholders. The Board is responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s business and affairs by establishing the overall
strategies, setting objectives and business development plans.

The Board has delegated its powers to the management for day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. Under the leadership of the
executive Directors, the management is responsible for implementing the
strategies and plans established by the Board and the implementation of
the risk management and internal control systems.
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Directors’ training and continuous professional development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the board remains informed and relevant. During the Year, there was three
in-house training conducted by external consultants for the Directors on their
duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and other law
and regulations. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and the individual training record of each Director received during
the Year is as follows:
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RO

Attending Reading
seminars materials
HEWSS AR R
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Heung Che Kan MEELE v/ v
Ms. Lee Ming Chu Jade THHRZ T+ v v
Mr. Heung Yue Wing AR SEA4 v v/
Mr. Ouyang Jianwen (appointed on 24 December 2021) Eif5EXE (R-ZE-—F+ 8 v v/
—+RERT)

Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUFHITES !
Mr. Chiu Tai Shing BRRAK S v 7
Mr. Fung Hoi Fung SERLE v v/
Mr. Wan Wai Wing BRI v v/

During the year, each of the Directors complied with code provision C.1.4 of
the CG Code.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed by the Company
for a fixed term of three year, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles, which may be terminated by either party serving
to the other party not less than two months’ written notice of termination.

During the Year, the Company had three independent non-executive Directors
which represent more than one-third of the Board members, and that at least
one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an annual
confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and the Company has reviewed and considered that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with
the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees on 13 November
2020, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the Group'’s affairs.
Each of the Board Committees has its own terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code relating to its authority and duties. All Board Committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including
access to management or professional advice if considered necessary. The
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composition of each of the Committees as at the date of this report is as BRAAT -
follows:
Audit Remuneration = Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EEMSR EREEE FMEESE REZEE
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Heung Che Kan MEEEE = = Chairman
FE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BY FEHITES
Mr. Chiu Tai Shing NI Member Member Member
K8 4= g
Mr. Fung Hoi Fung SRS AE Chairman Member L
S 8
Mr. Wan Wai Wing BETER A Member Chairman Member
Bk 8 FFE 8
Audit Committee BEREES

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are all independent
non-executive Directors and is delegated with the authority from the Board
primarily to oversee the Group’s financial reporting and internal control
systems, and the adequacy of the external and internal audits. Details of the
authority and duties of Audit Committee are set out in the Audit Committee’s
terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings. Details of the
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee in the said meeting
are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at Board/Board
Committee/General Meeting” above.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

. reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control systems and its accounting, financial reporting and internal
audit functions;

. reviewed the external auditor’s independence;

. discussed the scope of 2022 audit with external auditor and approved
the audit fees;

. met with the external auditors, reviewed and made recommendations
for the Board’s approval on the annual and interim reports of the
Company;

. reviewed, with external auditor, the key audit matters as included in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”;

. reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems including the internal audit function;

. made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditor; and

. met with the external auditor, in the absence of the management.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, which comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is delegated with the
authority from the Board to establish, review, and make recommendations
to the Board on the Group’s remuneration policy and practices. Details of
the authority and duties of Remuneration Committee are set out in the
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference which are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. Details
of the attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee in the
said meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at
Board/Board Committee/General Meeting” above.
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The summary of work of the Remuneration Committee during the Year is
as follows:

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the Group’s remuneration
policy and strategy;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors, independent non-executive
Directors and senior management during the Year; and

. assessed performance of executive Directors and approving the terms
of executive Director’s service contract.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, which comprises
one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors and
is delegated with the authority from the Board to formulate and implement
the policy for nominating Board candidates for election by Shareholders and
assess independence of independent non-executive Directors. Details of the
authority and duties of Nomination Committee are set out in the Nomination
Committee’s terms of reference which are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. Details of
the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at Board/

Board Committee/General Meeting” above.

The summary of work of the Nomination Committee during the Year is as
follows:

. reviewed the existing Board'’s structure, size and composition;

. reviewed and made recommendation on the appointment of an
executive Directors;

. reviewed and assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

. made recommendation on the retiring Directors at the 2021 AGM of
the Company.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the Year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in accordance with the
statutory requirements, accounting standards and other financial disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules. The financial results of the Group
are announced in a timely manner in accordance with statutory and/or
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditor are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit services for the Year
was as follows:
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HK$'000

FAT

Annual audit services FEETIRE 750

Non-audit services FIEEET RS 50
The audit committee has expressed its views to the Board that the level of EREEeRMETERT ERAKRARREE

fees paid/payable to the Company to the Company'’s external auditor for
annual audit services is reasonable. There has been no major disagreement
between the auditor and the management of the Company during the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Ming Fai has become the company secretary of the Company
since 24 May 2019. Mr. Yeung has confirmed that he has taken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year and has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The biography of Mr. Yeung is set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit,
convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of
one or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the board

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries can be
addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by post to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 2901-02, 29/F, Saxon
Tower, 7 Cheung Shun Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon or by email to
info@katyueconstruction.com.

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the AGM.

Procedures to put forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

The Company is not aware of any provision in the Articles or the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands for shareholders to propose new resolution at a
general meeting. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph headed “Procedures for
shareholders to convene general meeting”.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
AGM and other general meetings. At the AGM, Directors are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Significant changes in constitutional documents

The Company adopted an amended memorandum and articles of association
of the Company (the “Constitutional Documents”) on 7 December 2020
which was effective upon Listing. A copy of the Company’s updated
Constitutional Documents is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. During the Year, there is no change to the Constitutional
Documents of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and level of risk tolerance of the Company, establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Board is committed to oversee and review the design,
implementation and monitoring of such risk management and internal
control systems through the Audit Committee on an ongoing basis so as to
safeguard shareholders’ interest.

The Group established the risk management and internal control systems
with aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and provided reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses caused by judgment in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to establish an internal
audit function during the Year. The external consultant has assisted the
Audit Committee in carrying out an independent review on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, and has reported the status of its review to the Audit Committee on
aregular basis. The Group has formulated an internal audit charter to define
the scope and duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function and
its reporting protocol.
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The Group has also conducted an annual risk assessment for the year
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and
compliance risks of its major business. Each of potential risk was rated at
different level under the consideration of internal and external risk factors.
Respective internal control measures were proposed to mitigate the
consequences of the potential risks to the Group.

Based on the risk assessment results and following a risk based audit
approach, a continuous three-year audit plan was proposed which prioritised
the risks identified into annual audit projects. An annual audit project was
performed by the external consultant according to the audit plan with a view
to assisting the Board and the Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and dissemination
of inside information in accordance with “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” under the Securities and Future Commission, which set out
procedures in handling inside information in a secure and proper manner as
well as those aimed to avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has discussed and reviewed its risk management and internal
control systems with the review covered the effectiveness of material
controls (including strategical, financial, operational and compliance
controls) at entity and operational levels. Based on the result of the review
performed by the Company’s Audit Committee and the external consultant,
the Directors considered that the Group has maintained adequate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Year.
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About This Report

Yue Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) along with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to present its Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG") Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31 May
2022 (the “Year”), prepared in accordance with Appendix 27, Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide, of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

This Report aims to disclose relevant ESG information, including information
on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, as well as environmental and social key
performance indicators (“KPIs”), to the stakeholders of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in marine construction works, other civil engineering
works and provision of vessel chartering services in Hong Kong. Unless
otherwise stated, the reporting boundary of this Report covers the Group’s
operations in Hong Kong and the Company’s office in Hong Kong.
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ESG Governance

The Group understands that good ESG governance is the key to the long-
term development of an enterprise. The board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of the Company upholds its primary leading role and
management responsibilities in the ESG aspects, including:

. overseeing the Group's assessment of relevant environmental and
social impacts;

. understanding the potential impact of ESG issues on the Group's
business model and associated risks;

. aligning with the expectations of investors and the requirements of
regulatory authorizations;

. improving materiality assessment and reporting processes to ensure
that policies are implemented and enforced decisively and consistently;

and

. promoting a top-down culture to ensure that ESG considerations are
integrated into the business decision-making process.

The Group has specifically formed an ESG governance team consisting of the

Directors, company secretary, management and external consultant, which

updates the Board on a regular basis regarding the reporting progress. The

main responsibilities of the team are:

. to formulate the Group's ESG strategy;

. to identify and assess the Group’s ESG related risks to ensure an
effective ESG risk management and internal control system, thereby

enhancing the ESG performance of the Group;

. to review, recognize and report to the Board on the Group’s ESG
framework, standards, prioritization and objectives;

. to supervise and implement the ESG strategies on the Group’s level;

. to monitor, review and evaluate the Group’s ESG performance; and

. to review and advise the Board on the Group’s reporting to the public.
Department heads are responsible for overseeing their respective ESG risks

and objectives, and reporting regular updates to the ESG governance team
and the Board of on relevant progress and challenges encountered.
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Sustainability at Yue Kan

The Group continues to monitor and response to the public’s expectation
of the Group's sustainable development and disclosure of ESG information.
Stakeholders expect to understand the Group’s ESG policies and non-
financial risks more thoroughly. The Group aims to strike a balance between
optimising business opportunities and mitigating environmental and social
risks.

In this Report, the Group has measured and reported various environmental
and social KPls. The measurement and reporting of KPIs is an ongoing and
consistent process, allowing for meaningful comparisons of ESG data in in
the future.

When preparing and compiling this Report, the Group has reviewed its
existing policies and achieved a better understanding of the values of
ESG reporting. During the reporting process through the approach of
measurement, management and changes, the Group hopes to drive
improvement and innovation while minimizing the Group’s non-financial
risks. The Group understands a better future depends on everyone’s
participation and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and social
activities which benefit the community as a whole.

Communication with Stakeholder & Materiality
Assessment

Communication is an important aspect of our daily operations. Stakeholder
engagement and communication are crucial in understanding the
expectations and priorities of our stakeholders. The Group values the
opinion of our stakeholders and has thus set up and maintained various
communication channels for different stakeholder groups. Comments and
suggestions are welcomed as they represent an opportunity to improve the
Group and its services.
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Stakeholders
BHE

Key Communication Channels
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2:
T

HERERRE

Shareholders

Clients

5P

Employees

(=1

Suppliers and subcontractors

HERE LD BRE

Government and regulatory authorities

B MEE#E

Community and public

TS YN

Apart from regular communication channels, the Group has also conducted
an environmental, social and governance survey to collect opinions from
employees, management and external stakeholders, so that the Group can
better assess the materiality of various environmental, social and governance

aspects.
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Announcements and circulars
Interim and annual reports
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Company website
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Clients’ meetings

Regular debriefing sessions with site workers to collect clients’ feedback
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Annual performance appraisal
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The implementation of materiality assessment has been divided into three
main phases:

i.  identifying the potential material ESG aspects that may have impacts
on the Group's business or stakeholders based on the Group’s actual
development and industry characteristics;

ii.  inviting internal and external stakeholders to complete questionnaires
to understand their level of concern for each aspect; and

iii. analysing the results of questionnaires to determine the priority of the
potential material aspects.

The following matrix diagram is prepared by the Group to illustrate the
significance of various issues to our stakeholders and business:
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Environment

BIR

1.  Environmental
compliance
BHAH

2. Vehicle emissions
management

BHEREERE R

3. Vessels emissions
management
iaRiiake ) =P L

4.  Civil construction works
management
TARBETIEER

5. Marine construction
works management
BLRETREER

6. Greenhouse gas emission

BE RN
7. Waste management

FRERYE R
8.  Energy consumption

gERfEE

9.  Use of water resources
KEREA

10. Green office
BEWAE

11.  Responding to climate
change

FEHRIRE L

Labour Practices

BIESR

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Employment compliance

BREER
Employees’ remuneration
and benefits

BEFHMEAER
Employees’ working
hours and holidays

e 8 TIER B REA
Diversity and equal
opportunities
LTSRS
Occupational health and
safety

BERFEELE
Training and
development
[l =
Prevention of child labour
and forced labour
BrIEE T RaaH|% T
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Operating Practices
EERES

19.

20.

22.

23.

24,

26.

27.

28.

29.

Community Investment
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Operational compliance  30. Charity work
LEAR BELE
Management of 31. Promotion of community
environmental risks in the development
supply chain
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Management of social 32. Poverty alleviation

risks in the supply chain
ERHEEN TR

Procurement practices

KETE

REES

Quality management
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Client health and safety

FRREERERTE
Protection of intellectual
property

REMBERE

Research and
development
DAk
Information security
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Client privacy protection
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Anti-corruption
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Based on the above materiality assessment, 10 material aspects has been
identified for the Group’s business and stakeholders. The Group has spent
more effort to assess, control, monitor and report the material aspects to
meet stakeholders’ expectations.

Material Aspects
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1. Environmental compliance 14. Employees’ working hours and holidays
REAR 18 8 TIER B RE

4.  Civil construction works management 16. Occupational health and safety
TARBETIZER BEREETE

5. Marine construction works management 19. Operational compliance
BLERETIRER EEEH

12.  Employment compliance 23. Quality management
BEEHR mEERE

13. Employees’ remuneration and benefits 29. Anti-corruption
1 8 3B Ktz 7 R&5

Our Environment

The Group is principally engaged in marine construction works, other civil
engineering works and provision of vessel chartering services in Hong
Kong. We understand that our operations may impact the environment
and different stakeholders expect an environmentally friendly culture in
the corporate landscape. An Environmental Management Plan (the “EMP”)
has been adopted to assess, control and monitor various environmental
nuisances arising from our operations.

During the Year, the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste. The relevant laws and regulations include but not limited
to: Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance, Dumping at Sea Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance
and Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance in Hong Kong.
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Environmental Management

When acting as main-contractor, sub-contractor or vessel chartering
service provider, the Group is committed to implement and maintain an
environmental management system by following the EMP. Protecting the
environment is the responsibility of every staff in the organization. The Group
is committed to sustainable operation and minimizes any adverse impact
on the environment resulting from our business activities. The principles of
our environmental policy are as follows:

. focus on prevention of pollution, waste minimization and resource
conservation as critical considerations within our core management

processes;

. comply with applicable legal requirements and other requirements to
which the Group subscribes which relate to its environmental aspects;

. provide sufficient resources and facilities for the implementation of
environmental nuisance abatement and environmental management;

. obtain and renew the necessary environmental licenses registrations
and permits and comply with relevant statutory requirements and

licensing standards;

. conduct regular performance reviews to ensure that environmental
objectives and the requirements of interested parties are met;

. prevent pollution within and outside of the site;

. minimise environmental nuisances and generation of construction and
demolition materials in execution of the works;

. provide of staff training to all levels of persons involved in the works
to ensure understanding, implementation and development of these

principles throughout our business; and

. make continual improvement.
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Protection of Marine Ecology

During the Year, one of our in progress projects was to deploy a number of
artificial reefs in The Brothers Marine Park to provide artificial habitat for the
purposes of marine and fisheries resources enhancement. The Group hopes
to tender for similar projects in the future to contribute to the protection of
marine ecology. Regarding other marine construction projects, in order to
minimize its impact to the marine ecology, the Group has adopted marine
travel routes and management plan for construction and associated vessels
and marine activities plan. The plans can reduce disturbance to corals and
cetaceans due to vessel movement.

Promoting Environmental Awareness

To promote environmental awareness of our staff, the environmental
policy statement is effectively communicated to our staff and a mandatory
induction training for new workers and sub-contractors are conducted by
the environmental officer/supervisor (the “EO/ES”). Environmental bulletin
boards are available for display of posters, signs and statistics. The EO/ES also
regularly conduct site inspection, communicate with workers and promote
environmental practices.

Apart from the induction training, the workers receive regular training on
environmental nuisance abatement and waste management. The content
of the training include suitable topics relevant to the trade of the workers.
The topics include:

. construction dust, air emission and suppression;

. construction noise and suppression;

. wastewater handling, discharge and treatment facilities;

. waste collection, handling and disposal;

. resources and energy saving;

. site plant and machinery (operation and maintenance);

. maintenance of site access, site boundary and haul roads;

. marine travel route and management;

. loading, unloading and transfer of material; and

. loading and unloading and transfer of heavy or metallic materials.
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Environmental Policies and Control Measures

Policies and control measures with continuous effort are required to
minimize environmental impacts and promote efficient use of resources.
The Group has adopted various policies and measures in the EMP to tackle
different kinds of potential impact to the environment. The policies and
measures are regularly reviewed by the project team/EO/ES to monitor
the effectiveness and efficiency. In case the policies or measures cannot
effectively minimize the nuisance or promote efficient use of resources,
project team/EO/ES shall advise other measures to further control the
impacts. In addition, the Group considers the efficient use of resources on
site or in the office, such as electricity and water, is of equal importance to
emission policies. Efficient use of resources not only can reduce waste and
emissions from the sources, but also reduce operating expenses, which is
mutually beneficial to the Group and the environment. Since the Group’s
operation do not include any production of packaged product, the disclosure
for total packaging material used for finished products is not applicable.

Through the implementation of the policies, measures and monitoring
of their effectiveness, the Group hopes to reduce its carbon footprint by
controlling the amount of emissions, waste produced and resources used.
Various emission reduction and energy efficiency initiatives have been
implemented, which are set out in the EMP, environmental policies and
control measures.

Regarding the Group's emission reduction targets and energy use efficiency
targets, the Group shall continue to optimize the policies and measures
in order to control or reduce the intensity of emissions, wasted produced
and resources used. The Group shall analyse our emission and energy use
patterns based on a 3-year timeline and consider implementing more
specific targets.

Yue Kan Holdings Limited ¥4 2)Z=i& G BR A &
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The highlights of policies and measures are as follows:

Aspects
=]
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BER N EEHmENT

Policies and Measures

BUR K it

Dust, air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions

ER - BEREMEAEREBHK

appropriate screens, enclosures and water spraying systems
are deployed to minimize construction dust;

HBETHENFE  INRMEKES  LRERDEIE
B

ultra-low-sulphur diesel are used in all diesel-operated
construction plant on site to minimize emissions;

AT TS S8 B a2 & R i 2 BB 1K S AR sm bAR A B
i/

engines of construction equipment, private cars and vessels
during idling are switched off to minimize emissions;
ERENRBAREERE  AREMMENESHUAT
A BERR

regular maintenance are conducted to ensure equipment,
private cars and vessels are operating in good condition in
order to minimize noise and emissions;

HEITE B - BRERE - AREMMERIFEENRD
R RBERY

only regulated machines with exemption/approval label
under Regulatory Control on Emission from Non-road Mobile
Machinery (NRMM:s) shall be adopted for the projects;
EER%%%E%L%%@%WHWWMTMTEE?%
SHERRNTEE MR

encourage employees to use their best endeavours to take
public transport during business trips;
EEEEBCHEHHRERFRARRAE

encourage employees to reduce unnecessary overseas
business trips, thus reducing indirect carbon emissions;
SEMEB RO NV EREINEE - WETIR D B
consider energy efficient products when procuring and
replacing equipment, e.g. replacing incandescent lighting
with LED lighting;

PRAE N B AR AT 2 B AL IR e A an (AR ALEDARBRERFC
BHEn

turn off electrical appliances or switch them to standby
mode when they are not in use, thus reducing the amount of
electricity used;

BARATME R E SRR RN BRI AR RS - (MR PAAES ¢
turn off all unnecessary lighting, air conditioning and electrical
appliances before leaving the office;

BEFAM A ERIBRAPAE LR - 2R N ESS

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 £ 3§

63



64

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IBiE » 2R ERWRE

Aspects
fEm

Policies and Measures

BUR R it

Noise generated

EERRES

Water consumption and discharge into water

FKE R RKEES

Yue Kan Holdings Limited ¥4 2)Z=i& G BR A &

use quieter plant - Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment
(QPME);

EAREFRE —BERERE

install silence/noise enclosure/acoustic shed where practicable;
ERMTHBER TREFE BEE REM

turn off idling plants and equipment;

FAMEENRKE R

regular inspection and maintenance of water supply outlets
are carried out to avoid water dripping;
HOKREETTEPRE R E A RIRKIER

promote water conservation awareness among workers
through training;

FRIEIREIASHRKER ;

provide sufficient portable toilets on sites and vessels;

FET 3t R A ESR R SR BRI P

cover open stockpiles of construction materials or waste with
impervious sheeting during rainstorm in order to prevent
washing away of materials or waste;

TERRER AN E KRN EE BRI REM B S EEY -
VAR LEFT Y SEE MO ZE

adopt proper control in chemical and chemical waste storage
to prevent spillage;

2o MM RRERYIFRHIRIUES B E AR & 1
prevent barges to be filled to a level which may cause
overflow of materials of pollution of water during loading and
transportation;

0 B RS AER AR BRI RSB TRAYE
i H EYKFE

clean excess materials on the decks and exposed fittings of
barges before moving the vessels;

BB EMEMBTRTR E REMINERE FOZHRYE
overflow or lean material overboard (LMOB) systems are
prohibited;

2 DR MR M ESEK(LMOB) & 4%

maintain adequate freeboard on barges to reduce the
likelihood of decks being washed by wave action;

FEB M HAREE R SR TAX - DARA SR 1 BOR 1E R o il &Y
ATBENE

all vessels shall be sized such that adequate clearance is
maintained between vessels and the seabed at all states of
tide;

FEMENR TS EEREMA SR TMERGK 2
MR 2 SRR

vessel movements shall be kept to a minimum;
B B ERIFERKERE

prevent works from causing foam, oil, grease, litter or other
objectionable matter to be present in the water within and
adjacent to the works sites;

By 1 TA27E T3t AR AT A7k R E A B0K ~ O JBfE ~ 3
T EMS ARBRNDE :
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Aspects
EBm

CEIE

N

Policies and Measures

BUR R it

Waste generated and disposal of waste

BEEYELNEZRYRE

reduction at source, e.g. minimize the generation of

construction and demolition materials, use electronic means

to reduce paper usage and use duplex printing;
WEIREE R - PlInE SR ZEMFRM B NES » &
REFHURDHRES - WEREmMITED

encourage employees to recycle equipment such as computers

and communication devices through the recycling programme

of Environmental Protection Department.

S ENESBBIRIRREZNEIWET B - IR FEAE KA
BAERS

reuse office stationaries (e.g. envelopes and folders);
ERRAEXERR (PINEHRERRKRSE)

reuse the inert materials produced on construction site;
BRI ARE E B MR

recycle paper, aluminium cans and plastic bottles;

BURAR - SamERIRAE

inert waste and non-inert waste must be separated before
disposal;

B RE MBI ER BRI MAD R

encourage workers to use reusable dishware;

SR TAERAEEFEANER

provide adequate waste skips and garbage bins with proper
cover;

R4t AR R B A B E 8 R AR

employ licensed waste collectors to remove general refuse

from the site to licensed landfill sites or refuse transfer station;
LERFHEE R A AR R T E A R R B
B RS,

separate collection and storage for general refuse, construction/
demolition material and chemical wastes; and

HE—RREIR AR IR IR R L SRR D U ER R T
&

dispose waste on a regular basis to minimize odor, pest and

litter impacts.
EHRIEEY  URERLER  FRMNRHTE -
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Air Emissions

During the Year (“FY 2022"), the Group's sources of direct air emissions
were from gaseous fuel consumption from private cars and marine gas oil
consumption from vessels. The air emissions of the private cars included
7,194 grams (year ended 31 May 2021 (“FY 2021"): 8,011 grams) of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), 173 grams (year ended 31 May 2021: 187 grams) of sulphur
oxides (SO,) and 530 grams (year ended 31 May 2021: 590 grams) of
respiratory suspended particles. The air emissions of the vessels included
29,837 kilograms (year ended 31 May 2021: 28,187 kilograms) of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), 52 kilograms (year ended 31 May 2021: 49 kilograms) of sulphur
oxides (SO,) and 628 kilograms (year ended 31 May 2021: 593 kilograms) of
respiratory suspended particles.

BERBERK
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KRPEBURSE R B FLREREEFE R E M
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KPI A1.1: Private cars emissions and respective emissions data
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1 The vehicle emission factors were calculated based on the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department’s Vehicle Emission Calculation Model.
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KPI A1.1: Vessels emissions and respective emissions data
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The vessels emission factors were calculated based on the “Quantification of 2 MEHEMAREIZRRBEUMNE B Z 8 € #Entec UK
Emissions from Ships Associated with Ship Movements between Ports in The Limited /i [ E2 /44 LEE@ Hﬁ G nrd sk
European Community” from the European Commission published by Entec UK BREMMEEREL

Limited.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group's direct greenhouse gas emissions of the private cars and vessels
included carbon dioxide (CO,), methane (CH,) and nitrous oxide (N,O). The
carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emission of greenhouse gas from private
cars and vessels were 31,375 kilograms and 1,694,634 kilograms respectively
(year ended 31 May 2021: 33,784 kilograms and 1,600,925 kilograms
respectively). Our major indirect greenhouse gas emission were: 3,645
kilograms (year ended 31 May 2021: 7,242 kilograms) of carbon dioxide (CO,)
resulted from the generation of electricity, which was used in the office and
purchased from CLP Power Hong Kong Limited. Other minor and indirect
greenhouse gas emissions sources were 1,200 kilograms (year ended 31 May
2021: 801 kilograms) of carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emission resulted
from office waste paper.

During the Year, the total carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emission of
the Group was 1,730,851 kilograms (year ended 31 May 2021: 1,642,753
kilograms) and the carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emissions intensity was
8.15 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue (year ended 31 May 2021:
4.75 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue).

In general, the total air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions for the
Year has slightly increased. The majority of emissions were from fuel usage
by the vessels. The increase in emissions from vessels during the Year was
due to increased usage of passenger boats and tug boats as required by the
projects. The Group shall continue to implement the environmental policies
and control measures with a view to reducing fuel usage of our vessels. The
emissions from private cars has slightly reduced during the Year and the
Group shall continue to encourage the use of public transport and switching
to electric cars to further reduce emissions.

Yue Kan Holdings Limited ¥4 2)Z=i& G BR A &
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KPI A1.2: Greenhouse gas emissions
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The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from private cars was calculated based
on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in
Hong Kong” published by the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department
and Hong Kong Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from purchased electricity was
calculated based on the emission factor obtained from the “2020 Sustainability
Report” and “2021 Sustainability Report” of CLP Group.

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from paper waste was calculated based
on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in
Hong Kong” published by the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department
and Hong Kong Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from vessels was calculated based on
the Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories from the United States
Environmental Protection Agency.

1T ARE_ACHREENNREEEREREER
EERETRERMKETEEEY(AX =X
HAHAE) R ERBHREBROZENRE
HEEDEE -

2 HWNEENZSEHREEHERBREATFSEEDN
C2020R] BB R R E YR 22021 A HERRERE)
FTERM PR A EGTE -

3 BEHRCSLCRESHHREEERERESLE
BRETRSEMKEERED(BE XX
NHAE) R ER ISR R E RS S
3)atHE -

4 MEALCREEFHRBEXBBRTIRERER
VRERBHREFBEGE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 £ 3§

69



70

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Discharge into Water and Land, and Generation of Hazardous and
non-Hazardous Waste

During the Year, the Group’s major source of discharge into water was
from use of water in the office and on the vessels. The amount of water
consumption and discharge in the office was not available for collection
since water supply and processing of sewage were handled by the property
management company or relevant local government departments. The
total water consumption on the vessels for the Year was 1,428 cubic meters
(year ended 31 May 2021: 3,503 cubic meters) and the intensity was 0.01
cubic meter/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue (year ended 31 May 2021:
0.01 cubic meter/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue). The decrease in
water consumption during the Year was mainly due to decrease in marine
construction projects.
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KPI A2.2: Water consumption in total
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Printer toners were the major sources of hazardous waste in the office, the
total weight of hazardous waste generated was 1.95 kilograms (year ended
31 May 2021: 3.25 kilograms) and the intensity was 0.00001 kilogram/
thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue (year ended 31 May 2021: 0.00001
kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue). The hazardous waste in the
office was collected and recycled by relevant service providers.
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KPI A1.3: Total hazardous waste produced
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At the construction sites, the main-contractor was registered with the
Environmental Protection Department as a chemical waste producer and
followed the relevant guidelines. Good quality containers compatible with
the chemical wastes were used and incompatible chemical were stored
separately. Appropriate labels were securely attached on each chemical
waste container indicating the corresponding chemical characteristics of
the chemical waste. Licensed collectors were hired to transport and dispose
the chemical wastes at the approved Chemical Waste Treatment Centre or
other licensed recycling facilities, in accordance with the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation.

The major source of non-hazardous waste for the Year were domestic waste
from the office and vessels. The amount of non-hazardous waste generated
was 1,729 kilograms (year ended 31 May 2021: 16,343 kilograms) and
the intensity was 0.00814 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue
(year ended 31 May 2021: 0.04729 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar
revenue). The decrease in non-hazardous waste was due to scope of work
of the projects, since there were no construction and demolition waste from
construction sites for the Year.
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KPI A1.4: Total non-hazardous waste produced
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The non-hazardous waste in the office was handled by the property
management company. The construction waste was disposed to public fill
reception facilities and landfills. All vessels were kept free from litter and
general refuse at all times and waste skips and garbage bins with suitable
covers were provided at designated locations. All waste disposal points were
maintained and cleaned regularly.
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Energy Consumption and Intensity

During the Year, the direct energy consumption of the Group included
114,316 kilowatt hours (year ended 31 May 2021: 123,092 kilowatt hours)
of energy consumption by private cars and 6,639,222 kilowatt hours (year
ended 31 May 2021: 6,272,101 kilowatt hours) of energy consumption by
vessels. Its indirect energy consumptions included 9,346 kilowatt hours
(year ended 31 May 2021: 19,574 kilowatt hours) of energy consumption
from purchased electricity.

The total energy consumption of the Group was 6,762,884 kilowatt hours
(year ended 31 May 2021: 6,414,767 kilowatt hours) and the energy
consumption intensity was 31.86 kilowatt hour/thousand Hong Kong Dollar
revenue (year ended 31 May 2021: 18.56 kilowatt hour/thousand Hong Kong
Dollar revenue).

BERFEBRZE
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KPI A2.1: Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
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1 The energy consumption by private cars and vessels was calculated based on
the data obtained from the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International
Energy Agency.
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Responses to Climate Change

The increase in climate change has led to extreme weather events such as
global warming, rising sea level and drought, which may affect the Group's
operation indirectly.

The Group has identified increasing risk of head stoke due to extreme
weather and potential technological change in land reclamation work due
to rising sea level as the major risks in relation to climate change, that may
have a significant impact on the Group.

In response to climate change and the above risks to the Group’s operation,
the Group shall continue to control or reduce its impact to the environment.
In addition, the Group has provided relevant training and anti-heat stress
clothing with better breathability, faster sweat evaporation and better UV
protection to site workers. The management shall continue to research
and closely monitor the effect of rising sea level to land reclamation works.

Our People

The Group believes that employee is the most important component driving
the Group's success, thus maintaining a good relationship with employees is
of utmostimportance. By regular communication through different channels,
the employees are encouraged to express their opinions on the policies
relating to employment and labour practices. With a view to constructing a
work environment that favours collaboration and cooperation in compliance
with relevant laws and regulation, the Group has placed strong emphasis
on providing training and development opportunities, while maintaining a
safe and healthy work environment.

As of 31 May 2022, the total workforce of the Group consisted of 62
employees (31 May 2021: 46 employees) in Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations relating to employment that have a significant impact of
the Group, including but not limited to Employment Ordinance and various
anti-discrimination ordinance.
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Composition of the Workforce at a Glance

(This refers to employees of the Group as at 31 May 2022)

By Gender
Bt 85

45
73%

@ Male @ Office staff
EELia WAEET
Female Site worker
pegis AR T A

Remuneration and Benefit

The salaries and benefits of the employees are based on prevailing
local market rate and subject to adjustment based on experiences and
qualifications. Staff performance appraisals are conducted annually to
assess staff's performance, which also serves as an official communication
channel with employees. To attract and retain outstanding employees, the
remuneration packages are subject to review annually.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately. During
the Year, the total employee benefits expenses of the Group amounted to
HK$908,000 (year ended 31 May 2021: HK$982,000).
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Working Hours and Holidays

Office staff are in general required to work 5.5 days a week from 9:30am
to 6pm, while site works are in general required to work 6 days a week
from 8am to 6pm. Due to operational requirement, employees may be
required to work outside the normal working hours at the discretion of the
department manager for the proper performance of the assigned duties
and that the compensation leave or overtime pay are calculated according
to the employment contract. The Group encourages the management and
employees to maintain a work-life balance, avoid unnecessary overtime and
maintain a good corporate culture.

The Group provides holidays and leaves for the employees including:
statutory holidays;
paid annual leave of not less than 7 days per annum;

sick leave in accordance with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the Laws of Hong Kong);

14 weeks of maternity leave, in accordance with the Employment
Ordinance;

5 days of paternity leave, in accordance with the Employment
Ordinance; and

special leaves including 3 days of marriage leave and 1 to 3 days of
bereavement leave;

=E

N
I

TERFE R R A

MAEET—MFEEFHEIESSK  AETR
BEETFEE  mMImI/E—REBIEe
XK BHEFN\BEETFARKIE BR2EZE
ko BAKERBATEERCEERTHIE
FIBE S M{E B Al BEW BRAELEE TIERFRI SN T
B MEERPINMIEREBAEOTE - K
EEHEBEEENEER TERAEEMERSGYF
& AN BERINIE - FFRTHQF L o

AEEREERENERHEE
EERE
BEIPRIRNBEHFER
FalEEGD) (BEENE78) 2BHR
iR
Ha(BRIGH D AFHER - 145

FECRBIEDDZ EFHEERSK : &

BRI - BIE3RABERM Z3IRNER:

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 3R

75



76

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IBiE » 2R ERWRE

Recruitment, Dismissal, Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

In order to standardise recruitment and dismissal procedures and comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the Group has formulated
the Staff Handbook and Human Resources and Payroll Management Policy
and Procedure.

The department requesting recruitment has to fill in a “Staff Requisition
Form” with details of the job description and requirements, which shall be
reviewed and approved by senior management. When recruiting for a senior
management position, the Board’s review and approval are also required. The
major principle of recruitment is the suitability of the candidates in relation
to the positions. Other factors such as required practical knowledge of the
position, the qualifications, attitude, skill, potential and experience of the
candidates are also considered. During recruitment, the Group encourages
to provide equal opportunity to people with different social statuses, races
and genders, with a view to increasing internal diversity and strengthening
competitivity.

Upon the employment of an employee, an employment contract which is
prepared in accordance with the Staff Handbook and relevant local laws
and regulations, shall be signed with the employee including terms on non-
disclosure agreement. Probation period is usually 3 months and subject to
the performance review for extension.

The conditions of terminating employment contract are thoroughly
communicated to the employees through the Staff Handbook and their
employment contracts, and the terms and conditions comply with relevant
local laws and regulations.
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Employee Turnover Rate

During the Year, there were 26 employees (year ended 31 May 2021: 27
employees) who left the Group, with a total turnover rate of 42% (year ended
31 May 2021:59%). The turnover rate of male and female employee were 37%
and 100% respectively (year ended 31 May 2021:68% and 13% respectively).

The employee turnover rate by age group was as follows:

Below age 30: 60% (year ended 31 May 2021: 0%)
Age 30 to 50: 43% (year ended 31 May 2021: 41%)
Above age 50: 39% (year ended 31 May 2021: 80%)

The employee turnover rate by geographical region was as follows:

Hong Kong: 43% (year ended 31 May 2021: 59%)

Mainland China: 0% (year ended 31 May 2021: 0%)
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KPI B1.2: Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to provide employees a safe working environment
to protect them from occupational hazards. A Safety Management Plan has
been adopted to manage, control and coordinate the works in order to
protect the safety and health of our employees.

The Group only allows worker with valid Green Card (Mandatory Basic
Safety Training) holder to work on site. Certificate of Mandatory Basic
Safety Training is valid for three years and workers are required to attend
refresher training by recognized training bodies for renewal of certificate.
The project management ensures only employee holding a valid license or
certificate of competency to be assigned to jobs requiring specific license
or training. In addition, management and supervisor should hold relevant
safety certificates. Our workforce holds a number of marine construction,
civil construction and vessels related certificates, including but not limited to:
. Certificate in First Aid;

. Certificate of Training for Works Supervisor Safety Training Course;

. Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate;

. Safe Working Cycle Training Certificate;

. Certificate of Training for Assistant Safety Officer Training Course;

. Certificate of Training for Construction Safety Supervisor Course;

. Certificate of Training for Environmental Protection for Environmental
Supervisors;

. Certificate of Training for Hazard Identification Activity;

. Certificate of Training for Accident Investigation;

. Certificate of Training for Risk Assessment & Job Safety Analysis;
. Certificate of Training for Safety Inspection;

. Certificate of Training for Basic Accident Prevention;
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. Certificate of Training for Basic Safety Management;
. ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System;
. Skipper Certificate;

. Certificate of Training for Shipboard Cargo Handling Basic Safety
Training Course;

. Pleasure Vessel Operator Certificate of Competency;

. Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Local Certificate of Competency;
. Engine Operator Local Certificate of Competency;

. Coxswain Local Certificate of Competency;

. Certificate of Training for Works Supervisor Safety Training Course
(Marine Construction) and

. Certificate of Training for Shipboard Crane Operator Safety Training
Course.

In addition, the Group has certificate databases which monitor the status
of various certificates of our vessels and certificates held by our workforce
to ensure any required re-training or renewal are scheduled accordingly.

The Group or the main contractor ensure that all construction activities are
subject to a formal risk assessment prior to the commencement of individual
operations. Job safety analysis are carried out to identify critical tasks and
potential hazards. After evaluation of the risks, the corresponding safety
precautions can be defined and safe working procedures shall be developed.
Provision of personal protective equipment should also be addressed in the
procedures. The safety officer is responsible for regular site inspection. In case
of emergency or accidents, the site management should response according
to the relevant emergency procedures in the Safety Management Plan.
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The safety officer or supervisor is responsible for conducting pre-task
meeting prior to commencement of each shift work. The pre-task meeting
encourage the supervision staff and workers to communicate on the
following topics:

. accident or incident alerts;
. change in the work environment or procedures;

. concerns over safety, health, environment, hygiene and welfare; and

. other matters as deemed necessary.

Apart from pre-task meeting, task hazard briefing are also carried out on
a regular basis to ensure workers acknowledge the job instructions, the
approved and safe methods of working, the inherent hazards and how
they should be avoided. The safety officer or supervisor is responsible for
monitoring the safety instructions given during induction and job training
are deliberately followed up to ensure that the instruction remains effective.

To safeguard health of employees during COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
has implemented a series of precautionary measures to ensure a hygienic
and safe working environment for our employees to achieve long-term
sustainability of the Group.

During the Year, there were no incidents of workplace injury. During the past
three years, there were no work-related fatality incidents in the Group. The
Group has secured employees’ insurance policies in accordance with the
laws of Hong Kong. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety that have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to Employees’
Compensation Ordinance and Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

CEIE

N

RETEREEE R EESERI TEFRGAT T
MEBAE® - THEMERZBMEBAERTA
AT ERBEITION ¢

. B RENER
. I{ERBARFNE

- ZECRBE - RER - FLEREMNO[E
54

- BRRAKBEZHMEIR -

BITIERTE RSN - TEERETIIFRRER -
NHERTATHEIEER RUARZE2THES
% BABRARENAESZERR - 22X
ETHEERAREEABRBRELNZE2ET - I
B ERMEGE TR BRZE TR °

RIREREBRCOVID-19RIEHREMNERE - A%H
BE—RIEREE  SEEBRRBERZET
ERFEETAEBREA AN -

RAFE @ BEZLETESIN - RBE=F &
SEWIBRLERNTEBAEMIETHER - KE
BE RREERHENTEFTEAMNG TRR - A&
B AABEAHAREREAZENREFEREY
2HEENERERIINEATEREE - BFEE
PRI E BB GRA ) (B EZ = R RG]

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 £ 3§

81



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IBiE » 2R ERWRE

Development and Training R RIEI

The Group values employees’ development of skills and knowledges, NEBEEREENMHMEEER - WHERE
believing that talent retention can drive innovations and business AMBEHEAFT R EBER  WEREENDE
development. The Group expects to grow and create values together with BE—HBAk R - HFEHEE o

its employees.

All new employee on sites must undergo induction training so that they A NE BT VAR ARSI - LAERR
are able to discharge their duties in a safe manner. The induction training AN ZHHABITERE - ABSEIEFEETR

includes but not limited to: i
responsibilities and duties; . BEERBE
safety policy statement and objectives; - REBFEBHAREE:
project organization - key personnel; . JEHAK - -FEZAE:
general safety rule and personal protective equipment (PPE); o TREZ AN RMEAREREPPE)
accident reporting procedure; - EINRIEIER
emergency procedure - evacuation route and assembly point; - BE2REF-DNEBEERESE
location of facilities (first aid station, drinking machine and etc.); - ERHEHbEL (RGELL - BUKEE):
site environment - potential hazard; and . WRRE-BELGE K
working over/near water. - JKEBGRKIE o
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Apart from induction training for new workers, on sites tool box training
are usually conducted once per week to enhance safety and environmental
awareness of our workers. The training attendance records are kept and
reviewed to measure the effectiveness and efficiency of training. The training
material include, but not limited to:

. code of practices, guidance notes and guidebooks;
. contractual instruction;

. in-house safety rules;

. emergency and evacuation procedure; and

. tool box training kit issued by the Hong Kong Construction Association,
Occupational Safety and Health Council, and Airport Authority.

The Group has been providing high-quality training for employees to meet
their development needs, and assisting employees to prepare for various
changes brought about by the Group’s active business plans. Employees
are encouraged to discuss with their supervisor or the human resources
department if they have special training requests or want to pursue
continuing education. On the subject of employees’ career prospects, if
vacancies or new positions are available, the Group shall consider internal
promotion or transfer, thus encouraging upward mobility of employees.

In respect of development and training of the Directors and the company
secretary, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section in the
Annual Report.

Percentage of Employees Trained and Average Training Hours
Completed
During the Year, the Group’s percentage of employees trained for male and

female employees were 96% and 100% respectively (year ended 31 May
2021:89% and 13% respectively).
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The percentage of employees trained by employee category was as follows: ZEEBENESHXIEEBSLLNT ¢

Office staff: ~ 88% (year ended 31 May 2021: 35%) . WAEBT: 8% (HE-_Z-_—FRA=1+
—HIEFE : 35%)

Site worker:  100% (year ended 31 May 2021: 100%) . HBET A 100 (HE-Z-—FHA=1+
—HIEFE ¢ 100%)

KPI B3.1: The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
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The average training hours completed per employee for male and female BEBMRZMEETHZINFHEHD B A
employees were 11.75 hours and 32.80 hours respectively (year ended 31 11.75/ N K3280/ N\ (HE-_TE-—FRHA=1+
May 2021: 17.61 hours and 0.25 hours respectively). —BIEEE 1761/ 20.25/ 8 ) o

The average training hours completed per employee by employee category ZEBHEANZ DN EEEER TR B FHREE
was as follows: LU

G

WNAETET : 941/ N6 (BT —_—FH
A=+—HI#F
E :0.71/N\6F)

Office Staff: ~ 9.41 hours (year ended 31 May 2021: 0.71 hours)

Site Worker: ~ 14.97 hours  (yearended 31 May 2021:22.72 hours) . HWEETA: 1497/ (B2ZZ——%F%1
A=+—HI%F
& 1 22.72/N\Er)

KPI B3.2: The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the policies and guidelines in the
employment laws of Hong Kong, including elimination of child labour,
forced labour and illegal worker. All operating units have to ensure no child
labour, forced labour or illegal worker is employed. During the recruitment
process, the human resources department requires candidate to provide
identification document to check their eligibility to work legally in Hong
Kong.

Supply Chain Management

The Group continues to monitor closely on its daily operation and encourages
suppliers and contractors to join force in promoting performance of
sustainable development. Suppliers and contractors are bound by contracts
and the laws and regulations of Hong Kong, ensuring their compliance
with laws and regulation relating to environmental and social policies. For
instances, they are forbidden to employ under-age labour or workers without
work visa, and the products supplied must meet environmental standards.

During procurement for the Group, purchase requisition is initiated according
to the requirement of construction projects or administration department.
The Group has maintained an approved list of suppliers by evaluating the
price, quality, time delivery, industry reputation, payment terms and etc.,
to ensure a fair and equal selection. When performing supplier/contractor
background check, the project manager and administration management
are encouraged to evaluate the environmental and social risks of the supplier
and contractors. The industry reputation of the supplier/contractor includes
its environmental risks (e.g. whether the supplier/contractor was previously
fined by the Environmental Protection Department) and social risks (e.g.
whether there was recent occupational accidents occurred). By operating an
1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management System, the Group encourages supplier
and contractors to improve occupational health and safety requirements,
as well as to mitigate their environmental and social risk for continuing
improvement.

The Group also encourage that more environmentally friendly products or
services should be procured when it is feasible, with a view to minimizing
negative impacts to the environment and human health, and also conserving
natural resources. The environmental and social risks of the supply chain
are monitored by the project management and administration manager.
If there are significant changes in environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, they should discuss with other departments and decide on
risk responses.

During the Year, the Group’s number of suppliers engaged by the above
practices by geographical region are as follows:

. Hong Kong: 47 (year ended 31 May 2021: 60)
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Quality Management

The Group operates a Quality Management System which compiles with
the requirement of 1SO 9001:2015 for the provision of port works, roads
and drainage, site formation and waterworks. By implementation of ISO
9001:2015 - Quality Management Systems, we continues to improve,
monitor and review our services to ensure customer satisfaction. The
Group has formulated a Quality Policy and ensure all staff understood and
implement the policy, which aims to:

. exceed the service requirements and expectations of our customers,
to ensure we are their preferred service contractor;

. develop a rigorous work attitude, provide quality service and meet
clients’ requirement;

. instil in staff the right kind of work attitude and professionalism;

. develop procedure and guidelines to regulate the company’s
operational requirement;

. encourage and support all types of training, regard employees as
important assets of the company and promote the concept of quality
service and safe work to employees;

. encourage supplier and contractors to improve occupational health
and safety requirements;

. encourage and require, wherever appropriate, our business partners,
suppliers and vendors to adopt equivalent principles; and

. identify the risks and opportunities of the Group, and plan for action
needed to be taken.

Our quality assurance process include but not limited to determining and
reviewing the requirements of services, control of service provision and
nonconforming outputs, as well as monitoring, measurement, analysis and
evaluation of the performance to ensure customer satisfaction. Internal audit
at planned intervals of the quality management system are carried out by
the main contractor or the Group in order to ensure the system conforms to
the requirements and is effectively implemented and maintained.
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With a view to protecting intellectual property rights, clients’ data and
privacy, Directors and employees must comply with the Group’s Code of
Conduct and relevant sections in the Staff Handbook. Disclosure, use or
sharing of confidential information are strictly prohibited unless authorized
or required by law. Each department of the Group should ensure security
measures are in place to protect the confidential information, including
locking sensitive documents in safe and restricting access to confidential
data in computer systems. In addition, the Group has formulated a General
Computer Controls Policy and Procedure, which aims to safeguard the
information assets of the Group including clients’ data. The scope of this
policy includes information technology usage and safeguard, access right
monitoring, system maintenance, protection from virus and malware, and
data protection.

The Group seeks fair and honest competition to gain competitive advantage
through superior performance rather than through unethical or illegal
business practices. It is prohibited to obtain confidential information,
to acquire trade secrets or any other information without the owner’s
consent, or to induce any past or existing employee to make unethical
disclosures. Each employee should respect the rights of the customers,
suppliers, competitors and employees for fair trade. Employees should not
gain an unfair advantage over others by manipulating, concealing, abusing
privileged information, distorting the truth, or any other illegal practices.
Employees must not engage in price fixing, collusion, bid rigging or any
other similar illegal anti-competitive activities. In conducting business, the
Group encourages building reputation and maintaining good relationships
business partners but not to gain any unfair advantage.

To monitor the above practices, employees who observe suspected activities
that are illegal or in violation of the Group’s regulations are encouraged
to report to the Audit Committee by following an Anti-Fraud and Whistle-
Blowing Policy and Procedure. Details may refer to the “Anti-corruption”
section below.

During the Year, the Group's percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons was 0% (year ended 31 May
2021: 0%) and the number of products and service related complaints
received was 0 (year ended 31 May 2021: 0).

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to product responsibility that
have a significant impact on the Group.
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Anti-corruption

The Group considers ethical conduct is of utmost importance in corporate
sustainable development and long-term success. Directors and employees
must comply with the Group’s Code of Conduct and relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, prohibiting individual and commercial bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

An Anti-Fraud and Whistle-Blowing Policy and Procedure has been adopted
in order to prevent, detect and report fraud into a set of format written
requirements. Any fraudulent activities or violation of the Group’s Code of
Conduct shall be reported to the Audit Committee, which will be fully and
promptly investigated by the Audit Committee. The investigations should
be handled confidentially. The identity of whistle-blower and the suspected
cases will not be disclosed. However, if there is sufficient evidence to suggest
that a case of possible criminal offence or corruption exists, the matter may
be reported to the relevant local authorities.

To help the Directors and the management of the Company to better
perform their governance role, a training on business ethics for listed
companies has been provided to the Directors and the management of
the Company. The training package used, which was published by the
Independent Commission Against Corruption, featured ethical challenges
faced by the company directors and highlights corruption issues, fraud,
conflict of interest, cross-boundary bribery, backdoor listing, insider dealing
and etc. In addition, during the Year, the Company’s compliance adviser has
provided other anti-corruption related trainings to the Directors and the
management. The topics included ESG reporting, notifiable transactions,
connected transactions and reverse takeover. The total number of Directors
and management trained during the Year was 8 and the total hour of training
was 36 hours. The Group shall strengthen its ethical culture by regular anti-
corruption training or materials to our Directors and employees.

During the Year, the number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees was 0 (year ended 31
May 2021: 0) and the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption that have a
significant impact of the Group.
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Community Investment

The Group is committed to create a positive impact on the communities in
which it operates. Employees are encouraged to participate in community
projects and activities.

During the Year, one of our in progress projects was to deploy a number of
artificial reefs in The Brothers Marine Park to provide artificial habitat for the
purposes of marine and fisheries resources enhancement. The Group hopes
to tender for similar projects in the future to contribute to the protection
of marine ecology.

In the coming year, the management shall review policies relating to
community investment and explore the feasibility of increasing community
investment activities.

Summary of Key Performance Indicators

The Group continually improves by managing, monitoring and reporting its
KPIs. The tables below present a quantitative overview of our performance.

Subject Area A. Environmental

FEHBARER

KPI A1.1: The types of emissions and respective emissions data’

BREMERAL | FRMERERERFHEE

itERE
AEBRNRBEMCHRMEEAYE - 8B
BESELRIERJES -

RAFEE - BMERETH—EEERERNE
NBFEREMEZBEALAR  RHAIER
- PAEINEFNOREER - NEER BHEKRE

KRIZELUER - RREFFERELTR -

EEEBNKFRATEREBBBE @ K8
BB ERE Z AT -

RIRMEEEE

AEBFBERE  ERMEREBREIEED
BiOE - AT ERA/EMNRREEERL

Unit FY2022 FY2021

Item HH B —E_BE —E-—BE

Private cars NO, emissions FRRERECWNO BN E g 7,194 8,011
ﬁ

Private cars SO, emissions FLAREGREAC (SO ) HE R E g 173 187
7

Private cars RSP emissions FLRBAIRABIHFHBE ¢ 530 590
7

Vessels NO, emissions MERSLYNO ) BERE kg 29,837 28,187
=

Vessels SO, emissions MEREIYSo ) HME kg 52 49
T

Vessels RSP emissions EN AT FHENE kg 628 593
T
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KPI A1.2: Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity

1
B
L
I

BEANEEAM.2  BERBAHRERRE
Unit FY2022 FY2021
Item EH By “ECCHBE —EBE--HE
Scope 1 - Direct emissions from sources  #i[E1 - tIREEFEREREHN
CO, equivalent emissions from private FARE —&(LHX(CO)EE kg 31,375 33,784
cars? e T
CO, equivalent emissions from vessels & —QLix(Co,) & EHEHC kg 1,694,631 1,600,925
=
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions HE2 - B RAEREHEK
CO, equivalent emissions from purchased ~ #MN&E ) ZA1LHK(CO,)E S kg 3,645 7,242
electricity* HEm =
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions HE3 - Hib B R EREBHEK
CO, equivalent emissions from paper BER —2ULHR(CO,) B EHHC kg 1,200 801
waste’ T
Total CO, equivalent emissions ZEULHR(CO,)E EH LS kg 1,730,851 1,642,753
T
Revenue Weas HK$'000 212,285 345,618
FAT
CO, equivalent emissions intensity ZEULHR(CO)E BHMEE kg/HK$'000 8.15 475
Fr/THET

1 The Vehicle emission factors were calculated based on the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department’s Vehicle Emission Calculation Model.
The vessels emission factors were calculated based on the “Quantification of
Emissions from Ships Associated with Ship Movements between Ports in The
European Community” from the European Commission published by Entec UK
Limited.

2 The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from private cars was calculated based
on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in
Hong Kong” published by the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department
and Hong Kong Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

3 The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from vessels was calculated based on
the Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories from the United States
Environmental Protection Agency.

4 The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from purchased electricity was
calculated based on the emission factor obtained from the “2020 Sustainability
Report” and “2021 Sustainability Report” of CLP Group.

5 The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from paper waste was calculated based
on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in
Hong Kong” published by the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department
and Hong Kong Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

REERRFNIRBEBRIBREZBNTEIEK
ATEEAGE - MESEMAKIZBEONEBER
B & MEntec UK Limited 3/ AY[ E2 8% & /£ BUM £
FEgEN s MBESREMORESREL]FE -

ARE_SEREEHNREEERFREZ R
EERETRELMKEERZEY(HE =X
FAHAR) R ERBHREBRHZEMRES
EEDEE -

ME —SIREEHMRBEERBERRRRER
VRERBHREFREFE

SMBEH _ABEEFRBERTEEEN
2020 TN F BRI E IR 2021 AT H B HRITE)
FrERN AR EETE -

BER_SIREEHFIRETERREREERE
BRETRZSRMO(EEREN(AE  EF2H
RNHEAE) R EREBH RS E R E S
SI)EE -
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KPI A1.3 & A1.4: Total hazardous and non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

BREMISEAIEAIL . FIEEEEREEEEYHRERTE

Unit FY2022 FY2021

Item HAE B —T-MFE —T--MF

Total hazardous waste produced’ FIE4BEREDES kg 1.95 3.25

T
Total non-hazardous waste produced FTEABREREENES kg 1,729 16,343
T
Revenue Wz HK$'000 212,285 345,618
; THETT
Intensity of hazardous waste produced ~ FTE4ABEEEMTE kg/HK$'000 0.00001 0.00001
) Fr/TET

Intensity of non-hazardous waste FTEABREREENTE kg/HK$'000 0.00814 0.04729

produced Fr/FAET

KPI A2.1: Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity

BRENIEEA2  RERESNEER SREBHERERERTE

Unit FY2022 FY2021

Item EHE B SEICHBFE  ZEZ-MF

Energy consumption by private cars? FLRBRERFER> kWh 114,316 123,092

TR
Energy consumption by vessels> MERERER? kWh 6,639,222 6,272,101
FEE

Energy consumption by purchased INEE N EEREE kWh 9,346 19,574

electricity TR
Total energy consumption BERERE kWh 6,762,884 6,414,767
TR

Revenue Wzs HK$'000 212,285 345,618

\ FAET

Energy consumption intensity EREERE kWh/HK$'000 31.86 18.56
TR, FHET

KPI A2.2: Water consumption in total and intensity

BRENIEEA22  BRKEREE
Unit FY2022 FY2021

Item HHE B =T-=MF —T-MF

Water consumption? FEKE3 m* 1,428 3,503
MK

Revenue Wik HK$'000 212,285 345,618
FHET

Water consumption intensity FKEEE m?/HK$'000 0.01 0.01
SRS FHET

1 The dataonly accounted for hazardous waste produced in the office. 1 BREFAMAZEENEEED -

2 The energy consumption by private cars and vessels was calculated based on 2 FRERMERREEREEE LIRS LA
the data obtained from the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International JREE F i (Energy Statistics Manual) I BURETE -
Energy Agency.

3 The data only accounted for water consumption on the vessels. 3 HEEFAMENFEKE -
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Subject Area B. Social
TEHEBAME

KPI B1.1: Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region

BRENIERB1 | 1R - BREE - FRANKGESSNESAR

As at 31 May 2022

b
L
I

As at 31 May 2021

R=-Z=-—fF R-B-—F
BA=+—H BA=+—H
Number Percentage Number Percentage
Category Al B Antt B Epzlsd
Total workforce ZEEES 62 100% 46 100%
Gender 51
Male S 57 92% 38 83%
Female M 5 8% 8 17%
Employment Type EEER
Office staff WMAEET 17 27% 17 37%
Site worker HEET A 45 73% 29 63%
Age Group FHe AR
Below age 30 30 A 5 8% 4 9%
Age 30 to 50 302505% 21 34% 17 37%
Above age 50 5057 A £ 36 58% 25 54%
Geographical Region &=
Hong Kong B 61 98% 46 100%
Mainland China AR B A 1 2% 0 0%
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KPI B1.2: Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region
BRENIEER1.2 | 15 - FRANRBES D WEERAL R
FY2022 FY2021
TECHE —E--MEF
Turnover Rate Turnover Rate
Category il MK E Tk =
Total workforce FHES 42% 59%
Gender 4 5
Male Bt 37% 68%
Female 2zt 100% 13%
Age Group FHeE Rl
Below age 30 305 A T~ 60% 0%
Age 30 to 50 30E505% 43% 41%
Above age 50 5055 A 39% 80%
Geographical Region &
Hong Kong BB 43% 59%
Mainland China A 0% 0%
KPI B2.1: Number and rate of work-related fatalities
BREXNEEB2.1  BIEBEHEMETHABRLLER
FY2022 FY2021 FY2020
b et -2 bt 2 b St 322
Number  Percentage Number  Percentage Number  Percentage
Category B E L] B E ] B 2R BAl
Work-related fatalities B TEREMSL T 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
KPI B2.2: Lost days due to work injury
BRENEEB22  EIBIEATIEAR
FY2022 FY2021
S 5SSk S
Number Number
Category il A B
Lost days due to work injury EATEEAIIERH 0 0

Yue Kan Holdings Limited 1A £)1ZiZ B R A 7]
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KPI B3.1: The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category
BRENIEER3.  RUEFIREEERESNZIEET L
KPI B3.2: The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category
BREENEER3.2  RUFIREEERE S  BEEETHZIN TR
FY2022 FY2021
—ECCE —E-BF
Average Average
training hours training hours
completed Percentage completed Percentage
FER S FIEY FERL S
Category 5l T RFE Bak TR Eitsd
Gender 4 5l
Male S 11.75 96% 17.61 89%
Female 7 32.80 100% 0.25 13%
Employee Category EEER
Office Staff N 9.41 88% 0.71 35%
Site Worker AT A 14.97 100% 22.72 100%
Total workforce TRES 13.44 97% 14.59 76%
KPI B5.1: Number of suppliers by geographical region
BRENIEEBS. | R EE D HWHEREE
FY2022 FY2021
“EBCICHEF —EC-HF
Number Percentage Number Percentage
Geographical Region 1th[E 4] Aot 4] Aot
Hong Kong BAE 47 100% 60 100%
Total 15t 47 100% 60 100%
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B HER

KPI B6.1: Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons

FRENIEREB.  CERCEXERBRTALZ2HREEAMARNKNE S

FY2022 FY2021
TECHE —E--MEF
Percentage Percentage
Category Al Bt Aot
Percentage of total products sold or EENEERERESRPELTRRER
shipped subject to recalls for safety and R MZERIWAE DL
health reasons 0% 0%
KPI B6.2: Number of products and service related complaints received
BEENIEEB6.2 | EEBENERNRBHIRFEE
FY2022 FY2021
—ECHEF —E--HF
Number Number
Category Hhal A BB
Number of products and service related £ /&R E M ARFS RIS FE B
complaints received 0 0

KPI B7.1: Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees during the

reporting period

RRERIERB7.  REEHANBRTARHEERHYCELENESHRARFNEE

FY2022 FY2021
—E-—pF —E-—piE
Number Number
Category Al £ 4 2 gE|
Number of concluded legal cases REREBREBEITASEEERLEYE
regarding corrupt practices brought BENESHFARGNER
against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period 0 0

Yue Kan Holdings Limited 1A £)1ZiZ B R A 7]
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Index of Environmental, Social and Governance EEBASXSMBRATKER -t g
Reporting Guide of The Stock Exchange of Hong REREEESIDESI
Kong Limited.

Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FTEGERERER B

Subject Area A - Environmental

FEHBEA-RE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA - HEBY
General Disclosure Information on: 59-71
a) the policies; and
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRBEE BHERIORERBBHEN - M/KRLHHEDS - BERBEEEVNELS
)
a) BR: Rk
b) BETHETAGEATZENHRBERZLRN
EEH -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 66 - 67
BRI REIRAT HEr e A R AR R S B -
KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions and, where appropriate, intensity 68 - 69
RS IEIRAL2 BEREBENER (WER) BE
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. 70-71
RS AE R EIRA13 FRESBEREMEER (WEA) BE -
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. 71
RS E UIEIRAL4 FEAREEZEYEER (NER) BE -
KPI' A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 59-64
RS EIRALS A PAET 7 BV HE R E B IR R RE R E L B AR AT BRI P8R o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a 59-62,65,70-71
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BASRAE IEIRAL6 R EREENEEREEYNIE - MM S 8REE B IR R RED L
B IRATERER A P58
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page

FTEGERREE B

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[EHEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw 59-65
materials.

— R EE BEREAER (BERR  KREMERME) #IBEE -

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity. 72

RS AE RUETRA2.1 RENEIDNEER SEEEREEERTE -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 70

RS AE R IRA2.2 BRKERTE

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 59-65
them

RS A BUIETRA23 R AT SZ BV BETRIE A s B R M ARE BIiE Lk B AR PTERERE) P8R

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, 62,64

FASAE IR IRA24

KPI'A2.5

FASAE IS 1RA25

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
st SREGE R 7KR_ LRI AR - ARSI A AR B R R REEE
L6 B IRFTERER Y 2B

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

K mPTAERMHNEEN (WER) BEEERMEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHA3 : RERRRER

General Disclosure

—fRINER

KPI'A3.1

FAS AR SIR1RA3

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BEA4 . RIFEL

General Disclosure

—fRIEE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

BRETAHRERRAEREREATZEHHEK

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

WX ESH RN AR ERNEAZENE RN EEERATENT -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

Bl R EHER R AT EHRITAELRF ENEARIKEBETNBEK -

Yue Kan Holdings Limited ¥4 2)Z=i& G BR A &
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page

FEGERERER B

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 73
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

RS AE UL TRA4T B R R HBTAEETENEARRGHEBEER - NEHTTH -

Subject Area B - Social

TEHEB Y

Employment and Labour Practices

EBEREZEIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1 : R

General Disclosure Information on: 73-76

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

—MRBEER BEEREE BEREA - TERE - BRE - FE#E  Zat RE
LA R B 538 AR A6

a) BUR:;
b) EBSTEE ﬁkﬁéﬁ VB IERE AR RIR D

RER -

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 74
region.

RS AE RSB IR - EBERE - Fiedn RibREI SR ES B -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 77-78

RAR B IR IEB1.2 BRI FidR Mt REIDHEERKLX -
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FTEGERREE B
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmEB2 : REEZE
General Disclosure Information on: 79-81
a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
—MRBFE BRREZ2THERERRERS#EBEMLETN -
a) BUE:
b) E?T TABEARTZENEER AR
EVER} o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 81
years including the reporting year.
BB R E1RB2.1 BE=F (BEBEFE) SFRAITHROABRKRLE -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 81
RAG A HE1RB2.2 HIGERTIERE -
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are 79-81
implemented and monitored.
RSB R TRB2.3 R P ER ARV R R R R 245 1 - A BRI T M EER TV -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
fEmEB3 @ #ERIE
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at 82-83
work. Description of training activities.
—RRIREE BRARTTHE B BT TIERE A R RE A BUR © HtFFES) -
KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 83-84
senior management, middle management).
BB R HE1RB3.1 RUERREEER (MESREEE  PREEE) 0K IEEAIL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 85

RS2 4R RIE1RB3.2

category.

wIERI REEERIE D - BRREE KNI TR -
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FEHERER BY
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BHB4 : % T8l
General Disclosure Information on: 86

a) the policies; and
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RHEEE BRI IEE T g 6|45 TH) ¢
a) BE Kk
b) ESPEBEITABEARTERNEREELRM
KBRS
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 86
forced labour.
BSR4 BUIEIEBRA.1 R ET FREE BRI B PE LA A E T g HIS T -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 86
FSRAE BUIEIEB4.2 Fa il Ar 22 IR IR RS B RR B BB PR Y 22 B o
Operating Practices
EIEEG
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[ETEBS5 | HIEHEE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 86
—REH R ERHERARE g RREBUR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 86
SR 48 BB 1EBS.1 LiE Sl S HHEREE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 86
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.
Ra SR 4E BIEIZBS5.2 il A IR RERMES - MENITEBEENNHREREE - UREEH
ITRERFE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 86
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BSR4 BUEIEB5.3 A AR HERE B IR RIE R 2 R E S - LARIEEERITREE

B e
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FTEGERREE B
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 86
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored
RSB IR IEB5.4 R BRE H AR 2 AIRRE R RREHIED - ARBERITRER
A e
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EMEB6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Information on: 87-88
a) the policies; and
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress.
— R EE EAMREERMRENERELZS  BE  BERLEBEEURBRE
Yy -
a) BUR: &
b) BEFHEITAGEATENRBERE KRN
EEFL -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 88
health reasons.
B B E15B6.1 EEXCEXERBHTRL > HEZFRIEHMARKNA D
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 88
dealt with.
RASR A 513 B6.2 BB E o KRG HIREF B B AR EE 7K -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 88
property rights.
RS AE N FE1RB6.3 i ot B4 T I ORPE AR EE MR OB B o
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 87-88
RSB IR 1RB6.4 RS 1 TE IR REREIWIRF
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 88
implemented and monitored.
RAS B 513 B6.5 B BE ERMRIE RFLBBOR - ARMEERITRERTE -
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FEGERERER B
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BMEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: 89
a) the policies; and
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—RRIRER B IERRRS - % - BGEFRERER
a) BE: K
b) BETHBETAGEATENRBERZRRN
EVE R} o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 89
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
A AE R E1RBT.1 RREHABBTASHEERDWEEENESHARGEE KA
2.
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they 89
are implemented and monitored
RAS A FE1RBT.2 APy E 8 pE R R AR T - A RABBEBAT RER A
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 89

FASAEIE1RBT7.3

HimEER B TRENRESHE
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FTEGERREE B
Community

#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EHEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 92
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

—ARIREE FANHR2ERERETASENELENFTENBRREEL IS EZRE
HRFEHEEER

KPI1B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 92
needs, health, culture, sport).

RS4RI 1RBS. EIEREE (WHE  BEFE SIF R B#F b 85) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 92

RAG A 513 B8.2 EEISRRMBAER (NeExkiRE) -
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Crowe

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YUE KAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yue Kan
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred as the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 183, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 May 2022, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 May 2022
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BEESE () SHMEHAERAE
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

& IE SRE77R iSEP09E
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

B} RBERARATKRRK
(RESHSEME LA BFRAA)

BR
BMEEZHIINE112Z183EMDIERERA
A((BAR D EEMBLAR(GE 5 )8R
EMBRE ZEFAMBHRREER_-FT ==
FHA=T—ANGEEMBEHANE - BEZBLL
FENGFEEaMEMEEKER  GaERE
HRRGEHREMNER - UREA M BRI
i BREASHHRRME

BFRER  GAVBEHRREREZTESMA
S((EREHMAE )REMNEEYBREEL]
([EBMBREEN DEEMAFHREKR &%
BR-_F-—_FRA=1T—HANEEMBERRA
REBEZALFENGEMBRAREARS
mE - WEEREERRGIINBEREZRR
8 o

BEReERE
BHARBEEESFAMASRMNE LR LR
([ERBEFER DETER - ERXFEAT - &
PIE EER PR E NERED G F A7 & T
WEBAENEF—SE—THR - REFES
AR AEMEX S AEETAI(TFR ) ERA
BEMSEEMBERRIELEZNREFRENE
MERME - BB BEE - YCOEEAR
B E K& TRIBITEMBIEEE - HFAHEE @
PIFFEGHEZREERE B E AR IR
BERIRHER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 £ 3§

105



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 1B 3 #% BB 3} &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

RETEIFER
BERPHELAE - BREFFEARMER
AHRNR A BRERREEHEE - RE
ERGANBERERRLEHE RRRELS
B MRS EEEERRESR -

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition for construction contracts

BESHBREER

Refer to Notes 3(a) and 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(q).

a5 S Bk & B IR I it 3(a) RAX R B Eat BOR it 2(q) °

The Key Audit Matter
BARENSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BARBRRNTERERARETSE

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of marine
construction works and other civil engineering works, in
Hong Kong totalling HK$198.9 million for the year ended 31
May 2022.

HE_Z-__FRAA=1t—HIFE - EEEARNEBER
HEEZETERHEMEIRTIRESSKES H19898 8%
I o

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time
using the output method, based on direct measurements
of the value of contract work performed, which is mainly
reflected by the progress certificates issued by customers.
The customer will provide final account when the whole
project is completed and may have adjustments on the
amount recognised to date according to the actual surveys
of work performed at completion.
BRRRZRFAATANIRENEREETE @ KABLE
BEREZERER  ZEBEFERMETPEZNEEFR
F o BEBEBTKE  BEBRHEKEKRE - BrRE
TERBHE TGN IRENERAEEEE B AIAMERR
SREELAE -

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter
because revenue is one of the key performance indicators
of the Group and therefore there is an inherent risk of
manipulation of the timing of recognition of revenue by
management to meet specific targets or expectations.
BN RERBRNAARESAFTE  REARKGER &
SENHERBERERZ—  METFSIREBBEREISE
BiZs TR A R e i R AV E S Ak o

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition for
construction contracts included the following:

BRI AREES O REERIETHNEARFEEAT
KIH

H =

. assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the contract
revenue recognition processes;

- FAHEARRNWRREREFTSEEANREITH R - #}
1T BB ERCRR

. inspecting a sample of contracts with customers, to
identify key terms and conditions, and to assess the
Group’s revenue recognition criteria with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

- BERETEFAL - UBRIZEERFRRGSE - 12 E
Rt ERNRENE BERENKEERIRE

. comparing the contract revenue recognised for
construction projects during the year, on a sample
basis, with progress certificates issued by customers;

- BESFARBEEEBRIBNSORZHETSEEN
EEBIRETHL
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Revenue recognition for construction contracts

BESWBSTER

Refer to Notes 3(a) and 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(q).

AL HA & BN T 3(0) R4 RBR S5 BURATF2(q) -

The Key Audit Matter
BRENSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMRELENAEERRETEER

comparing the certified amounts in the final accounts,
for contracts completed during the year, with the
contract revenue recognised to date, to assess whether
adjustments in the final accounts, if any, have been
reflected in the Group’s accounting records; and
RFAERTERNELD @ BEZRETHORESHREEE
BRIFTHERN AWM EITHY - A ERERE $
MAB(INA)RERMRE BEEENGFRET &

obtaining confirmations, on a sample basis, from major
customers of the Group to confirm amounts certified
for selected construction projects during the year and,
for unreturned confirmations, performing alternative
procedures by comparing details with contracts, and
other underlying project related documentation.
mkm BEEEIZFPEDRMERE - AERFARE
TRERENERDE - UHRTHEIRENTHME
- BREHKESFBESLH REMERNIR E Gl
e e
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BHE B ZGRS MERRAKIED
R
BAWERRAEREHSRAVBHRREBME T
SEFERNREFSEER M G A E A RERAL -
WHELHEFAHMEENZBEIRE - AREER
BTMERERMEL - BRI ZIMIEEMARE
FRAPINL B L AN R 5 ) B AR (] B (S A A
HibALBE -

ERETESEANKE - HEREZEETER
ETNERILETERILEREMFENEXR
SHERIRAN o $5 SRR P IRGF R R ML - 1
ERBEEREAMBERTAREERERE
RAEMBRRELNEIARER - AIRRE/EX
HEARRRA -

|iEF - HAFIE

ERBEREETENETER
REE o JAFITF

REXHE - REEXER

o BB RFHE B REF SRR M S BUR A
BREEERERRANAR - RetRHT
BERREFUAEBHZERE - UREREREM
BENEZRE  FRBEMABRMNER - &
REFEATRE S Bk - 3 - EEER
FE FRBR A % B A BPESIER B - FILRAE
HRAMFMERNERFERRAN AR
RARBE B IR A #5 3R T BB E AR R IR LAY
e

- TERESEZABRAREE - ARFHEER

BEZERF  HUFEEYH BEREREE
MBREERRER -

- AHMAEEARASHTBENREERELS
FHASTMER KBNS -
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 August 2022

Yau Hok Hung
Practising Certificate Number: P04911

TEBZZEQBBNFERT  HMAETHAH
RV BRRNEZEREENER - AME
REAREZEIR - ROIERBEREPHAZE
FH RIPEBZIERIAALCHBNEZRSTS
B FERRFRNBERT - HEERERERP
BETFEBRFHRERNEARRBLELENR
T - RIRPPRENEAERSE T EEZER -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4R & B R E A 2 MW H &

For the year ended 31 May 2022
HE_T_—_FRA=T—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS")

(LGETT ([T ))3R)
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FET FHET
Revenue g 4(a) 212,285 345,618
Direct costs BEKAR (182,073) (289,606)
Gross profit ER 30,212 56,012
Other income HaA 5 1,734 2,679
General and administrative expenses —RRITHAX (11,709) (9,689)
Listing expenses WX = (3,358)
Profit from operations &E R 20,237 45,644
Finance costs B TSRS 6(a) (63) (209)
Profit before taxation BRBR AT =R 6 20,174 45,435
Income tax FTiSHi 7 (3,490) (7,800)
Profit and total comprehensive income for FREFR 2 E AL
the year 16,684 37,635
Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents) SRERCEWL)
Basic and diluted EXREE 11 0.75 1.94

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. Details MR TR E BN —ED o EREF
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable (SR EN AR DB R IR B 2 s H S S M =
to the profit for the year are set out in Note 10. 10 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %R & B i AR R 3R
ﬁé:%::&%ﬁﬂ] ga‘??élz
(Expressed in HKS)

(& sr)
2022 2021
—E=-= g4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FHT FHEIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M= - B R 12 74,278 56,825
Contract deposits B 15 410 =
74,688 56,825
Current assets REEE
Contract assets BHEE 14 18,098 37,469
Trade and other receivables, deposits and & 5 M Hth B FRTE - L& MFER
prepayments KIE 15 49,801 46,657
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFRITER 16 10,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents BeKREeZEEY 17 75,181 124,517
153,080 208,643
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 25 R EMEN A 18 23,436 48,252
Lease liabilities HEaE 19 645 614
Current taxation BIEARE IR 20(a) 2,494 8,218
26,575 57,084
Net current assets REBEEFE 126,505 151,559
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 201,193 208,384
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaFE 19 364 1,009
Deferred tax liabilities R IBEE 20(b) 7,350 5,582
7,714 6,591
NET ASSETS EEFRE 193,479 201,793
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E 21
Share capital (L% 22,240 22,240
Reserves 1 171,239 179,553
TOTAL EQUITY R 193,479 201,793

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 August R-EBE-_—FENA=T—HBRES LT

2022. 1T
Heung Che Kan Heung Yue Wing
EEE @ #K
Director Director
EF S
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. RN RS SR —2D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY SR &8RS B R

For the year ended 31 May 2022
HE-T_—_FRA=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in HKS)

(LETST)
Merger
Share Share reserve Retained Total
capital premium (Note 21(c)) profits equity
EfEE
R RaE  (ME2100) REBEF EREE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TAT TAT TAT TET AT
Balance at 1 June 2020 RZB-Z%F5xA-H
iketas - - - 100,150 100,150
Changes in equity for 2020/21: —ECE/C-EER
EEEH
Profit and total comprehensive FREHEE2ENEEE
income for the year - - - 37,635 37,635
Capitalisation issue BRI 21(b)(ii) 16,680 (16,680) - - -
Issuance of shares under the Initial & 'X’Rﬁﬂ?’”ﬂx( [BRDEA
Public Offering (“IPO") R 1) &7 21(b)(iii) 5,560 98,448 - - 104,008
Dividends declared in respect of REAFEERRE
the current year 10 - - - (40,000) (40,000)
Balance at 31 May 2021 and R-ZE--£1fA=+-H
1 June 2021 k=E2=--%5xA-H 22,240 81,768 -* 97,785 201,793
Changes in equity for 2021/22: ZEC-/ZZEEM
BREE:
Profit and total comprehensive FRENR2ENEAE
income for the year = = - 16,684 16,684
Dividends approved in respect of St E—FEERMKE
the previous year 10 - (24,998) - - (24,998)
Balance at 31 May 2022 R-EZZFHA=1-H
[ketas 22,240 56,770 * 114,469 193,479
*  The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000. * REESRIEPA,000 BITHIEEE o
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. AN TENZENBRERO—F D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS &8 HRERER

For the year ended 31 May 2022
E_T__FRA=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in HKS)

(LOETLST)
2022 2021
—E-CF —ET-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FER FAT
Operating activities ReEES
Cash generated from operations LEMENRE 17(b) 11,964 39,263
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EXNBEBNER (7,446) (4,987)
Net cash generated from operating activities K& ZEHHBERLFH . 4518 34,276
Investing activities REEH
Payment for purchase of property, plant and TEEYE  BEKEE
equipment &R (28,483) (14,111)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE « WE L REFE
equipment FKIA 5 -
Advances to a director M—RBEEBN = (10,000)
Interest received BF A 5 299 104
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFTARESRE (281790 (24,007)
Financing activities mMEEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHREERTS 17(c) (614) (464)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEEERSFEES 17(c) (63) (45)
Repayment of bank loan BEEIRITER 17(c) - (6,732)
Bank loan interest paid BETIRITESFE 17(c) - (164)
Proceeds from issuance of shares by the IPO, BXARBROEITRMDEAE
net of share issuance expenses FIE - HBRRGEITFEZ  21(b)ii) - 104,008
Payment of listing expenses S EWRAX - (3,259)
Dividends paid B E 10 (24,998) (10,109)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing ~ BEEE(FTA) FiBH €
activities 8| (25675) . 83,235
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash REeRBELEBEYUNF
equivalents CR2) /18 (49,336) 93,504
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of ~F#IRIRE RIS H
the year B 17(a) 124,517 31,013
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the ERNESREESZEY
year 17(a) 75,181 124,517
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. AN B SN BmERN —5 5 °
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Yue Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 24 May 2018 with limited liability under the
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 7 December 2020. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information to the annual report. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in marine construction works, other civil engineering works
and vessel chartering services.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these financial statements.

116  Yue Kan Holdings Limited #4232 32 B PR 1\ &)

2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

LFEH

REFEBFSRRIERER)  MBIEREA
BARI(ERARDR=E—N\FRA=1+T
HERSHSIMKIZAERLDR - ARF]
BRONR-_Z-_ZF+_ALBEEERAR
SBRAR ([BRFT]) LT - KRAMGE
M EE AU N B2 BN AFRD
AER - ARBINEMB AR (GHEAI RE
BDIBRFEFEEETRE  HhEKTiE
MWERERE

BXEEREK
(a) EHREH

A BBRIBBEZMER 2 EEHB
HEEAN((EBMBHEER ) (b4
HEREsetmAg((FRETMA
g BB ERZ @R E BT
WELER - BESAEN(ERE
BR ) ERE) REBELBEFRANIA
REBEERAAMGIIZEBEREMBRE -
A EMR T AR PES EmRA
TERRADOBERAREGRI - A&
BERANERNSFTBRBENT -

BEGMASCEME TEEMER
ERANZERAR  ZEBFBYBRE
ERRAEE ZRITEAHREERERK
H AT IR R RN o 2RI ERIE
RS E GG HR KR E
BNER  MAEMEPHEAKERNZ
EMBWRTAARROE RIS HIEMA



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

()

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
May 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group.
None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group'’s results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Group
has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont‘d) 2. EXESHBEE)
(d) Subsidiaries (d) MIBAF

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Changesinthe Group’sinterestsin a subsidiary that do notresult
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling
and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note
2(g)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
arising from leases of underlying property, plantand equipment
(see Note 2(f)), are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see Note 2(g)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives. The principal annual rates used for the depreciation
of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Vessels 10%

- Site equipment 20%-33.33%

- Furniture and fixture 25%

- Computer equipment 25%

- Motor vehicles 25%

- Leasehold 33.33%
improvements

- Right-of-use assets
(Note 2(f))

Over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and the leased assets’
estimated useful lives.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(f)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

Atthe lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
arelevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 2(e) and 2(g)(ii)).

120  Yue Kan Holdings Limited #4232 3R B R 1 &)

2. EXEFRFEE)

(f)

HEEE
AEERGONEFEEREHNEEE
HEHXBEEHE - HEH/BERE
M4 T 7 — BRI P 45 | m] 28 B EE £
AmEdN  AiZaneEExEeE
g -EEFRBAEETRAH#NEE
ZREkBEABREREGRATDEE
Mzby o AERIEGIRE -

ERAMA

HeEdResHERD MFEERD -
AEBEEEMNRDFBEERND - A
BEHERD RAEMEBIFRET D RIE
PrAEMEENE—HERD -

REERFRBEH  AEENHERE
REMEEEMNHERAS  TEEH
EMERN T —EANESHAEREEE
BEME - EXEEMNEEBEEER
YHER  AKRESREZERER
HEEEKHEERNL - BZFEKRE
AMeEERRENHEE N RERR AR RS
1 FERR AR ST

EHEREARCE MEAGRES
NEMNEENKNREVPHER - X
ERMAEMR MR - KW F
KM ARERE - RIEMAEEEERE
FHE - ROTHERR  HEREBEN
BIHARAGE BR S ER BRI
EEE o TEURRIEBE A Ry A &
HEMNRERBEREEREZFE
o WEEREELE 2 @ IR E
SR o

REEHE MR RN ERREEEY]
FIRAGFE  BFEEEAENVINA
SFIN R FA B Bz B EH RO E(A
HEMR  ARAEENEMINFZE
B - IER - EREEENKAN
TREIRIRRR MR AERE B E kB ER
BBk A B AT T i B A B ET K
R - BRI R ABRE W MR M 2 WER
MEEES  EREEEEREKA
R ITE MREERIIRR(RHE2(e)
K22(g)(ii)) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(f)

Leased assets (Cont‘d)
As a lessee (Cont’d)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance with
the accounting policy applicable to trade and other receivables
carried atamortised cost (see Note 2(j)). Any difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made
to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as negative variable
lease payments in profit or loss in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“"ECLs") on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including pledged bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see Note 2(i)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables
and contractassets: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont‘d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont‘d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the creditrisk of afinancial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- anactual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

124  Yue Kan Holdings Limited 14 2% 3% B PR 2\ &

2. EXEMBEEE)
(9 FEBFEREERME(HE)

(i)

THITAREHNEEZIEERR
(&)

=EEEA M LF
AEeMIANEERRE NS
HERIARAE D KR LT - A&

Ee NS A B RN
REAMFENSMTAZLRZY

MR o EHEHAAE - A&
BRI ERAT AR RE

AR ER B 1B R SR AR 3R (0
RABE)STHNBERATAAREHE
BEXMEHEEES - G2 R
BED®E0R « AIBKENE
- AEEEERAEASENE
ENEMER  BREEBELRK
EEFNHBZRAHE N TH
AIESHRTIEIEEH

[

AREmE - HEEERERA NS
ﬁEEuLMKﬁTK"PmLﬂB—ir ZE
IATER

RERAVIHBHPIMNAR
TR E

- ERTAIPLHAMEEF
BB WERKFARBEE
=ik

- EBAREXENERNKTE
HEEBL: &

- B W5 KEIEER
BB AR EREHHER
ABITEHASEREHEE
NBEEXTHEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont‘d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont‘d)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(q)
(iii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

2. EXEBEGE)
(9 FEBEREERME(HE)

(i)

THITAREHNEEZIEERR
(&)
FEmBANE L7 ()

BAREBMIANME - FEA
Eﬁﬁﬁ%i%ﬂ’]ﬁ%ﬁ?%%ﬂ%&

HAREEETT o W ERRKE
Al E A 1T - iraﬂlélﬂ'ﬁ?z#lﬂ
®E SRR (A RAR K=
SRR ETOA

REBREREBHEHTER
HEEEE  ARREBTIAD
1:1?115’*@@]*15@ VA PR EE A Y
@J T‘EH;EJETJEETE\@EE’UETEJ
=3P R R ER
mﬁiﬂé\ ° Zli‘ilﬁﬁﬂﬁfrﬁﬁﬁﬁa
TErRRMERDSHER @ LBE
ERBRERYEKREEFEHLERE
AEE o

FIR KAt ERE

1 B 5 2(q) (i) FE R A9 F1) B A Th
RFeREENAREERE K
IZeMEELBREERE &
BIERT » FERAZRZEHME
EREEK A (B EREEREE
BT E

RERERY  AEEEFGS
REERTHLEGEERE - &
BE-ARZAH S BEEMF
*XfﬁﬁumiﬁT\ﬂ?ﬁa M=

IR ERMEELBREEM
% °

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 £ 3§

125



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont‘d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Cont‘d)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont‘d)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased.

- Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets; and

- Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (for example, head office building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-
generating units if otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont‘d)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont‘d)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favorable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(h) Contract costs

2. EXEFIEFEE)
(h) EHEZE

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a contract with a
customer which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment (see Note 2(e)) or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs
of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that will
be used to provide goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and
other costs that are incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible assets,
are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange
for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in
Note 2(q).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(i)

)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 2(q)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(g)
(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see Note 2(q)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note
2(j)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see Note 2(q)(iii)).

Trade and other receivables

Areceivableis recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
assets (see Note 2(i)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses (Note 2(g)(i)).

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and measured in
accordance with Note 2(p)(i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(k)

)

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 2(g)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group'’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs (see Note 2(s)).

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(o)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the reporting period, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous reporting periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(o)

Income tax (Cont‘d)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and itis probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- inthecase of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(o) Income tax (Cont’d)

2. EXEFRFEE)

(o) FTiEH (%)
- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they - EEMEBEAENAGE  BUHEE

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

(p) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(p) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts

2. EXEBEGE)
(p) BB IREEREREESHE)

(Cont'd)
(ii) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing
with the contract.

(q) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the provision of services in the ordinary course of the
Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service is transferred
to the customer, at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
the value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contractincludes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(q) Revenue and other income (Cont‘d)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Service contracts for marine construction works and
other civil engineering works

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work
on assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the output
method based on direct measurements of the value of

contract work performed.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties
for late completion are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in Note
2(p)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(q) Revenue and other income (Cont‘d)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Vessel chartering services

The Group provides vessel chartering services in Hong
Kong, including the hiring of vessels and crews for a
specific period of time. The Group recognises the fee
received or receivable as its revenue over time in the
period in which the customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as services are performed by the Group.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
Note 2(g)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

(r) Translation of foreign currencies

The Company has its functional currency in Hong Kong dollar
("HKS"). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies (Cont‘d)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the Company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value
was measured.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use
or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont‘d)
(t) Related parties (Cont‘d)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) Theentity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity orisa member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont‘d)
(u) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM") for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and
other uncertainties affecting application of those policies and
the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition and
assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the
consolidated financial statements. The significant accounting
policies are set forth in Note 2. The Group believes the following
critical accounting policies involve the most significant judgements
and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Revenue recognition of construction contracts

As explained in policy Note 2(q)(i), revenue from construction
contracts are recognised over time. Revenue on uncompleted
projects is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract. The Group recognises revenue based on direct
measurements of the value of contract work performed,
which is mainly reflected by the progress certificates issued
by customers. The customers will provide final account when
the whole project is completed and may have adjustments on
the amount recognised to date according to the actual surveys
of work performed at completion. Subject to the adjustmentsin
final accounts, actual outcomes in terms of total revenue may
be higher or lower at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue in future periods as an adjustment
to the amounts recorded to date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

()

The management determines the impairment loss if
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an item of
property, plant and equipment may not be recoverable. The
carrying amounts of these assets are reviewed periodically
in order to assess whether the recoverable amounts have
declined below the carrying amounts. These assets are tested
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to the recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and the value in use. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to level of estimated revenue and operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of
recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and
costs.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract
assets of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability
and ageing analysis of these assets as well as other quantitative
and qualitative information and calculated the lifetime ECLs
based on credit loss experience, and on management’s
judgement and assessment of the forward-looking information.
Significant judgement and estimates is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these assets, based on the current
creditworthiness, the past collection history and subsequent
settlements of each customer. If the financial conditions of
customers of the Group deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional impairment may
be required.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(@) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of marine
construction works, other civil engineering works and vessel
chartering services. Further details regarding the Group’s
principal activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major service lines is as follows:

4. BRRHBEE

(a)

Wz
AEENTEXBRRUEEEET
B EmEATREEMERERY -
BRAAKEXEXBNE - SHERE
P EE4(b) ©

(i) WsmoHE
BRPAHNNZHRETERBEERE 5
BT

2022 2021
g —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx TET

Revenue from contracts with customers EEBUMBREERE 155

within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANEFEHIKE
Disaggregated by major service lines REERBED
- Revenue from marine construction works —REBEEETRONZE 138,903 166,912
- Revenue from other civil engineering works ~ — R B H A /R TR U 59,989 160,371
- Revenue from vessel chartering services —REMEREREH W= 13,393 18,335

212,285 345,618

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic
information is disclosed in Notes 4(b)(i) and 4(b)(iii),
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont‘d) 4. WERDEEEE)

(@) Revenue (Cont'd) (@) W= (&)
(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising (i) FEEIERAREZRFELEHEE
from contracts with customers in existence at the FEWEESHFFEE NG

reporting date

The following table includes the aggregated amounts
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
construction contracts. The transaction price does not
include any estimated amounts of variable consideration,
unless at the reporting date it is highly probable that the
Group will satisfy the conditions of variable consideration.
The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future
when or as the work is completed, which is expected to
occur over the next 12 months (2021: next 24 months).

TREEREBEAEEREERES
PNOEEHR TENETZRSE
RBEE - XZSEIBEEMT
BHEMNMISE  RIEERS
BH » NEBEIGE s meEn] &
HENGEE - Bk - AEEBR
HETRRTIREREH KRS
MmIEEHRARREA(ZEZ
—&F  RK24EA)RET -

2022 2021
g —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FTEx TET

Remaining performance obligations expected ~ FEEREERS NELE T

to be satisfied

1,978 14,228

Except for the aforesaid contracts, the Group has applied
the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15
to its other contracts such that the above information
does not include information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that has an
original expected duration of one year or less.

Br bt &4 - AEBBEBES
MR EERE155HEF121RTH
EREE R EZEANEMEL -
it » P ERTBEAEEE
BITAEH(REEAE—FkERE)
BN TR TREEEIE
Rz E R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

4., REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont‘d)
(b) Segment reporting (b)

4. BRRSBEE(K)
DEEHE

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group'’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following three reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

Marine construction works: this segment involve reclamation
works, submarine pipeline works, sediment treatment works
as well as regulation and deposition of sand blanket works as a
subcontractor to the Group’s customers. Currently the Group’s
activities in this regard are carried out in Hong Kong.

Other civil engineering works: this segment include foundation
works, site formation works and roads and drainage works.
Currently the Group's activities in this regard are carried out
in Hong Kong.

Vessel chartering services: this segment provides vessel
chartering services in Hong Kong, including hiring of vessels
and crews for a specific period of time.

(i) Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
most senior executive management monitors the results
attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment profit is gross profit. No inter-segment
sales have occurred during the reporting periods. The
Group’s other income and expense items, such as general
and administrative expenses, and assets and liabilities are
not measured under individual segments. Accordingly,
neither information on segment assets and liabilities
nor information concerning capital expenditure, interest
income and interest expenses is presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont‘d)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont‘d)

(i)

Segment results (Cont’d)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well asinformation
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 May 2022
and 2021 is set out below:

Year ended 31 May 2022

4. B RSBEE(HE)
(b) 7EB¥RE (4)

Marine

construction

(i)

D EBFEE(E)

EEABEHEEFGOKES
¥Rt ER DB R E o Bk
HmMAAEBGZSTHREEAS
RENBE_Z-_—_FRK=_F=
—FRA=Z+—BLFEREHERX
EEEMROIAMELRETIAT ¢

BE-_Z-_—_#HEA=t+—HIL
£

Other civil Vessel

engineering chartering

works works services Total
BERE Hfth+ A nEHE
IR IR BR#% gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THER FTHERT FHET
Disaggregated by timing of RN R K H
revenue recognition and HBEFRRDE
revenue from external
customers
Over time BE RF [ FE R 138,903 59,989 13,393 212,285
Reportable segment gross T 25 HHEFR
profit 25,858 2,250 2,104 30,212
Depreciation for the year FRITE 7,499 70 2,081 9,650
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

4., REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont‘d) 4. FRRDEHHEE(HF)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont’d) (b) DEHE (&)
(i) Segment results (Cont’d) (i) DEBX4E(E)
Year ended 31 May 2021 HE-—_ZE-——FHA=+—8It
R
Marine Other civil Vessel
construction  engineering chartering
works works services Total
BEREE Hith £ K mEES
IR IR AR %% 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAET TAET FTET FTET

Disaggregated by timing of ZERWNEEERKH
revenue recognition and MBEFEkZESE
revenue frOm external
customers
Over time PErs R TR 166,912 160,371 18,335 345,618

Reportable segment gross A 285 HHEFR

profit 39,612 12,996 3,404 56,012
Depreciation for the year  FERITE 3,985 - 2,958 6,943
(i) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss (i) FAI2#7EFEmHAR

Year ended 31 May
BEIA=T—-BHLFE

2022 2021
—E-F —T-—%
HK$’000 HKS$’000

FER TET

Profit gl

Total reportable segment gross profit A 2MD BB EF 30,212 56,012
Other income E AU A 1,734 2,679
General and administrative expenses —RITHRAX (11,709) (9,689)
Listing expenses WX - (3,358)
Finance costs TSRS (63) (209)
Consolidated profit before taxation REBRT A& F 20,174 45,435
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

4, REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont‘d)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont‘d)

(iii)

(iv)

Geographical information

All of the Group's activities are carried out in Hong Kong
and all of the Group’s assets and liabilities are located
in Hong Kong. Accordingly, no analysis by geographical
basis is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers during the year contributing

4. BRRSBEE(K)

(b)

o ERERE (48)
(i) HEEHF

AEENMEXBIRERE
17> MAKENFRAEEERAE
TMIREE ° Fitt - WE|25Z

Mol DB DA

vi) FEEFHEH

FAMAEEERI T BIE10%M0F

individually over 10% of the Group's total revenue is as ErzsmT
follows:
Year ended 31 May
BEHA=1+—HLEE
2022 2021
B T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Customer A’ BEA 50,413 42,939
Customer B! =FB' N/A A3 i * 114,176
Customer C2 BEC 34,400 =
Customer D? BFED? N/AT3E A * 60,014
Customer E2 ®PE? 35,020 44,598
Customer F2 BFEP 23,547 =
Notes: (T
1. Revenue from marine construction works and other civil —

engineering works.
2. Revenue from marine construction works.

* Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of the
Group's total revenue for the respective year.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in Note 22(a).

1. BEREIRERAEMIARTRER

B

o

2 REEERETRAUGS -

* RRFHAREPRELINAE

B4R AI10% ©

KEZEEFNEESTRRF

BER M E22(a) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

5. OTHER INCOME

5.

Hfthig A

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—Eg=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HKS$’000

FTEx TET

Bank interest income RITFIEWA 299 104

Work injury compensation received from a B AR R TSGR E
main contractor 990 =
Government subsidies (see note below) BT RE (R T XX BsE) 392 2,575
Sundry income FETEUA 53 -
1,734 2,679

Note: Government subsidies represent subsidies granted by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under

the Anti-Epidemic Fund.

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) Finance costs

BMIEE - BT HEERIER B ITRRETREN
RURE S IR emRs -

Interest on bank loan (see Note 17(c))

Interest on lease liabilities (see Note 17(c))

6. BRIRETEF
BRESATR A THAEHBRIA TS IHBER
(a) BAFERA
Year ended 31 May
BERA=1T—HILEE
2022 2021
=Fs= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
RITERFE(RMEE17(0) = 164
HEsEMNFE(RMTE17(0) 63 45

63 209
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Cont‘d) 6. BHAIABRIE)
(b) Staff costs (b) EIRA
Year ended 31 May
BZEHEA=1T—HLEE
2022 2021
—E-= —B-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe - TERHEAMET 29,945 30,183
Contributions to defined contribution MERBHR TR EIEL R
retirement plans R 908 982
30,853 31,165

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevantincome in accordance
with the employment contracts. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

AREBREBEREEHERTEEF S P
RSNEBRBGOIAET AR R
EERHERHIMELABSFE([BEEFT
8 -  RESFHES—HHABIZTEA
BEENEREFRAKEFGE - RIE
RS S BEENERBRBARERE
BAEXEBREBMBBKRAMNS%E T
BI(EH #FR o mET I H B0 SR BN B
FEEEEM -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Cont‘d) 6. FRMBLEFI(#E)
(c) Other items (c) HAEH

Year ended 31 May
BERAA=1+—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—Eg=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HKS$’000

FEx TET

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BERRETE

(Note 12) (BftEE12)
- owned property, plant and equipment —BBEWE - BERRERE 9,945 7,331
- right-of-use assets —[PREEE 608 592
10,553 7,923
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment HERE KR EEE 472 15
Auditor’s remuneration ZERTB €
- audit services —ZE AR 750 750

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 7. FARERAMZAKZRPOMR

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE "R

INCOME

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (@) MAEBEEEMAZEKERFPHIIE
other comprehensive income represents: 5

Year ended 31 May
BERA=+t—-HLEHFE

2022 2021
—s=-= T4
HK$’000 HKS$’000

FEx TET

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax BENEARE1E — HEFEH

Provision for the year FREME 1,732 7,114

(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years BEFE(GRERE) BETZ (10) 151
1,722 7,265

Deferred tax ELER R

Origination and reversal of temporary differences ¥ 2= 589 & £ N O]

(Note 20(b)) (Bt F20(b)) 1,768 535

3,490 7,800

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands RERSHEREBRZHE AN X

and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any B ASERFEHRERRBELE

income tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands. SHBMNERTEH -

Yue Kan Holdings Limited 1A £)1ZiZ B R A 7]




7.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (Cont‘d)

(a)

(Cont'd)

For the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under
the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of a qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of other group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed

at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates:

FERREMEZEKRE KPR
wR(E)

(a)

(&)
BE-_S-——FR-_F-_—FF/H=+
—BIFE  AEEBLREAREENS
RSB TIRIBEFSTHMARAGETE -
RIBEFEHMAS  2EREEEE
KB 28 B8 T 1% 8.25% F) 7t 2 &4
i MiBE2E BB TSR — R
L16.5% 5T E o A SR
MEMNEBRERET SN EFNEER
16.5% )55 — T R BT o

PSR B E AN R ENEtE
FMEERAT

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=1+—-HLHFE

2022 2021
- —B-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Profit before taxation B 75 A g A 20,174 45,435
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated %% A% Fll 89 % 2= B 58 (3R B
at the rates applicable to the profits in the AVARER BN ERARETE)
jurisdictions concerned 3,616 7,332
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEETMA 2 B & (114) (491)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses NAMRF S 2 RIS 5o 2 3 802
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised & T LAWERHYE IS 1 2= B 7 Fii§
2 - 6
Others Hith (5) -
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE(BREEE) BETE (10) 151
Income tax FigsE 3,490 7,800
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EEMS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEFA D BEHIE383(1) 15 A KA 7l 18 4
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies E2H(HWREESFFRER ) HENEEWS
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation m

are as follows:

For the year ended 31 May 2022
BE-B-_FRAAZ+T-HLFE

Contributions

Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
Directors’ and benefits retirement
fee in kind plans Total
B E B AR
E2 A=\ RIKGHE
ESHe RENEF TR R @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
Executive directors BITES
HEUNG Che Kan M - 1,440 - 1,440
HEUNG Yue Wing (Note (i) K (BT Gi) - 861 29 890
LEE Ming Chu Jade (Note (iii)) ZHATR (PG - 656 33 689
OUYANG Jianwen (Note (iv) B s (Bt 7E(iv) = = = -
Independent non-executive directors BUKHTES
CHIU Tai Shing (Note (i) BBAR(BHEE()) 120 - - 120
WAN Wai Wing (Note (i) BB (FIEEG) 120 - - 120
FUNG Hoi Fung (Note (i)) BRRE(EG) 120 - - 120
Total @t 360 2,957 62 3,379
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

8. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d) 8. EEML(B)
For the year ended 31 May 2021
BE-Z-_—$AA=+—HIFE
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances to defined
Directors’ and benefits contribution
fee inkind retirement plans Total
Eha:ts
e R RIKGHE
EEHe REMREN R AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THET FET FAT
Executive directors YTES
HEUNG Che Kan M - 1,440 - 1,440
HEUNG Yue Wing (Note (ii)) IRy (B Gin) - 552 28 580
LEE Ming Chu Jade (Note (iii)) ZHATR (P Gin) = 615 31 646
Independent non-executive directors BIKHTES
CHIU Tai Shing (Note (i) BBARE (HHEEG) 66 = = 66
WAN Wai Wing (Note (i) BB (EG) 66 = = 66
FUNG Hoi Fung (Note (i)) BER () 66 - = 66
Total @5t 198 2,607 59 2,864

During the year, there were no amounts paid or payable by the
Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals set out
in Note 9 as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. Except for disclosed in Notes (ii),
(iii) and (iv) below, there was no other arrangement under which a
director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

During the year ended 31 May 2022, except for the directors’
emoluments of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company, the directors’ emoluments of the Company were borne
by a subsidiary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the directors’ emoluments of

the Company were borne by a subsidiary of the Company.

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase
of ordinary shares in the Company during the year.

FR - AEEBWES BN TFES KK
HOFH IR &= HMALRE - LEAR
SRS MBS MBAERE 2 BE)S1E AR
B8 o BT SCHIEEGE) G R (v FTIR RS
Oh 0 RAFE - BECWEMTHFES
B E S B B REE A E -

HE_Z-_—_FRA=+—HILFE KX
RABYIFRTEZT2EEMES - XA
EEMETIRARE—HM B AR MALE -

BE_T-_—FRA=+—BLEFE &
AFIEEHS T AL A — I B A T R

E o

AR BV E ARSI B AN R E A
RIS A AERT S -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d) 8.

Notes:

(i)  Chiu Tai Shing, Wan Wai Wing and Fung Hoi Fung were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on 13 November
2020.

(i) During the year ended 31 May 2022, Heung Yue Wing agreed to waive
the emoluments of HK$28,000 (2021: HK$28,000) as the capacity of an
executive director of the Company.

(iii) During the year ended 31 May 2022, Lee Ming Chu Jade agreed to
waive the emoluments of HK$4,000 (2021: HK$20,000) as the capacity
of an executive director of the Company.

(iv) Ouyang Jianwen was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 24 December 2021. During the year ended 31 May 2022,
he agreed to waive the emoluments of approximately HK$182,000 as
the capacity of an executive director of the Company.

9. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 9.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two are directors
for the year ended 31 May 2022 (2021: one), whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect
of the remaining three (2021: four) individuals of the Group are as

EEMe(R®)
GEE

() BBAK - BHEREERR T -TF+—
AT+=BEZERRNRRELIFRNTES -

(i) BE_T-_—_FRA=+—HILFE ' M
WXKBEREEARRRNTESZFMNH
28,0005 7T ( — & — —47:28,000/8 7T ) & B °

i) 2T —FHEA=+—HIFE =
BIREEREEARARNITESTENH
4,000 (=T =—4F : 20,0008 7T)F B -

(iv) BEEXRN-_T-—F+_-_A-1+HEES
FRARBPTES - BE-_T__FAA
=+—HLEFE - KEEREEARAAIH
TEZ51DH%182,0007 TTH BN ©

EEFMAL

BE-ZT--_FRA=1t—HBIEE 1%
BeFMATRERBAESR (T - —4:
—%) BEZFHNBEERHES - HBp =%
“E-—F R EReSFMA T ZHIEA

follows: ZEONN ¢
Year ended 31 May
BEHEA=1+—HLEEE
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other emoluments e K H AN 2,685 3,797
Retirement scheme contributions RRGTEIH R 109 168
2,794 3,965

The emoluments of the above individuals are within the following

Filt AEEVFBEA T EBER

bands:
Year ended 31 May
BEEA=1+—HLEFE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
B = 57
ATEE ATHE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,0007% 7T 1 1
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10. DIVIDENDS 10. g2

(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (@) FAEBESELATEZRRARE
Company attributable to the year

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHIT

Interim dividend declared and paid of 2 & & MK (< i BARS B &A% E @A

Nil HK cents per ordinary share (2021: THEW(ZE = —F - 2T

HK$20,000,000 per ordinary share based % + &% 3& /20,000,000, 7T )

on 2 ordinary shares) = 40,000
Final dividend proposed after the end of ¥R HIZR 18 Bk R HIR 8B

the reporting period of Nil HK cents per E@REHBIW(—ZT——F : GRE

ordinary share (2021: 1.124 HK cents BAR1.124740)

per ordinary share) - 24,998
= 64,998
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting WEHREEZRENRPKRELTER
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the WERKRERAAME -

reporting period.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b) FREHERKMS L—MBFEERE
Company attributable to the previous financial year, NEQARERBRRERE

approved and paid during the year

2022 2021
—E-8F —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Final dividend in respect of the previous FRXE /&K EBR F—HEHEE
financial year, approved and paid Bk EARR B R1.124 8 (=B = —
during the year, of 1.124 HK cents per F o gREE)
share (2021: Nil HK cents per share) 24,998 -
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. BRET
(@) Basic earnings per share (a) BREAREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended HE_ZT-_FHAA=1T—HILFESE

RERBFINFTEDERNFRAERRRL
i 2 A% B E (51 711 6,684,00078 7T ( =
T = —4F :37,635000/870) RE BT
13 B9 D04 S 45 £802,224,000,000 % ( ==
——% :1,936,099,0000% ) - +EWT :

31 May 2022 is based on the profit attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of the Company of HK$16,684,000 (2021:
HK$37,635,000) and the weighted average of 2,224,000,000
(2021:1,936,099,000) shares in issue during the year, calculated
as follows:

(b)

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
No. of shares No. of shares
RGO EE R EE
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Shares in issue at the beginning REIEZITHRG
of the year 2,224,000 —*
Effect of Capitalisation Issue on the B EITH TR E R AR AR
completion of the IPO (Note 21(b)(ii)) 22 (MI=E21 (b)) - 1,668,000
Effect of shares issued by the IPO on ZETFETAERBERARABR
7 December 2020 (Note 21(b)(iii)) 21T B2 8 (K 5E21(b)(iii) ) - 268,099
Weighted average number of shares RERE I hnfE F 198
at the end of the year 2,224,000 1,936,099

* The balance represents an amount less than 1,000 shares.

Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during the
years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021. Hence, the diluted earnings
per share is the same as basic earnings per share.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

12. % - BEER®E

(a) FREIERHER

Properties
leased for
Site Furniture Computer Motor Leasehold own use
Vessels equipment  and fixtures equipment vehicles  improvements carried at cost Total
BER BREENE
i B3 BERE Bl G EEE] BEEE  ZAAIR it
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TER TER TER T Tir TER TEx Thx
Cost: A
At 1 June 2020 WZ3-%F
~A-A 53,747 8,886 2 175 1,547 92 1,260 65,728
Additions AE 13920 - - - - 191 1,824 15935
Disposals e - - - - - (92) (1,260) (1352)
At31 May 2021 A&
IA=t+-H 67,667 8,886 21 175 1,547 191 1,824 80311
Additions AE 13,500 14,683 - - 300 - - 28483
Disposals HE (962) (2,834) 21) (80) (310) = = (4,207)
At31 May 2022 S S
TA=1+-H 80,205 20,735 = 95 1,537 191 1,824 104,587
Accumulated depreciation: ZH7E :
At 1 June 2020 RZE_TF
~A-H 10,395 4423 21 112 946 57 723 16,677
Charge for the year ERRX 5776 1,167 - 2 310 49 592 793
Written back on disposals ~ (ti [ - - - - - (77) (1,037) (1,114)
At 31 May 2021 R-E--F
ER=1-H 16,171 5590 21 141 1,256 29 278 23,486
Charge for the year FRR% 7,205 2483 - A 209 64 608 10553
Written back on disposals (£ EFE (489) (2834) 1) (80) (310) - - (3730)
At 31 May 2022 i S—
BR=1-H 2,891 5199 = 85 1,155 93 886 30,309
Net book value: HREFE:
At31 May 2022 R-E--F
BA=T-A 57314 15,536 - 10 382 %8 938 74278
At31 May 2021 A&
TA=t+-H 51,4% 3,29 = 34 291 162 1,546 56,825
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)
(b) Right-of-use assets

The Group has obtained the right to use the properties as
its offices through tenancy agreement. The lease runs for an
initial period of 36 months and it did not include variable lease
payments.

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

12. W% - BERE&M ()

(b) EREEE
AEBECEBHERZNERAIER
VIRERE - B 28 HIR R361E
A TREMNEHEEMNK -

EHRREERRN SN NWEREEERE

FEDTAT
As at 31 May
REA=+—8
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Properties leased for own use, carried at = S EZITEK AR

depreciated cost

938 1,546

The analysis of expenses items in relation to leases recognised
in profit or loss is as follows:

RiEEPRRERESEN I HIEBE S
MranR

Year ended 31 May
BERA=1T—-HILFE

2022 2021
—E=-= g%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets %48 & EARI D EHFE HEEE

by class of underlying asset: HEER:

Properties leased for own use EREEYE 608 592
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEAEMNE (Miitea)) 63 45

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 17(d) and 19 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 13. RIBATZ8E
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries. The class L TEEEBENBATINGEES - BB EIE
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise state. BASN - PTIEAR DB R BT EAR -

Place and
date of Particulars of Group's
incorporation/ issued and paid- effective Held by the Held by a
Company name establishment up capital interests Company subsidiary  Principal activities
BRTR REEN —-EWELTE
NREH /R eER A BRBRAFE ERER AQFMES fisE TEED
Yue Wang Investment Limited The British Virgin Islands Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
("Yue Wang") 28 May 2018
Yue Wang Investment Limited RBRIHE (E REER
([Yue Wang]) —F-N\&
RAZT/\H
Kat Yue Construction Engineering Hong Kong HK$5,800,000 100% - 100%  Marine construction works,
Limited ("Kat Yue") 7 January 2005 other civil engineering
works and vessel
chartering services
EHREEIRARAA(ER]) &8 5,800,00077T BERETE  AfpIAT
—ETHE-AtA BRMERERS
Digital Future Investment Holding ~ The British Virgin Islands Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited 15 February 2022
Digital Future Investment Holding ~ XEBR &S (E REER
Limited “E-Cf
—R+HA
Hong Kong Digital Future Investment Hong Kong HKS1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 22 March 2022
EAUFHARERRAA &E 18T BB
“T--F
=R=+ZH
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14. CONTRACT ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

14. SHEE

As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Contract assets EREE
Arising from performance under marine ~ FEBITEEEZETREMES
construction works 11,401 26,153
Arising from performance under other EHETHEM R TEmES
civil engineering works 6,697 11,316
18,098 37,469

The Group's service contracts for marine construction works and
other civil engineering works normally include payment terms which
require stage payments over the service period once the progress
certificates were issued by customers. These payment terms prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets. The Group also typically
agrees to a retention period of three months to one year for a
maximum limit of 2.5% to 5% of the contract value. This amount is
included in contract assets until the end of the retention period as
the Group's entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the
Group’s work satisfactorily passing inspection.

At 31 May 2022, the amounts of contract assets that are expected
to be recovered after more than one year are approximately
HK$2,539,000 (2021: HK$4,402,000), all of which relates to retentions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 15. B REMBEHRIE  RERTAT

PREPAYMENTS IF
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-= —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Non-current assets FERBEE
Contract deposits (see note below) — &#E& (R XM= 410 -
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables E 5 e IR 21,642 25,169
Other receivables H e RIE 392 50
22,034 25,219
Contract deposits (see note below) A HiEE (R T 10,000 -
Deposits and prepayments e MERNFIE 17,767 21,438
49,801 46,657
50,211 46,657
Note: Asat31May 2022, contract deposits of approximately HK$10,410,000 Wt R—ZE-_—_FHA=+—"8 BEREF
(2021: HKSNil) were placed to customers to guarantee for the due and FAANIRE 410,410,000 (- —
proper performance of the obligations undertaken by the Group’s FEBEL) UWERLAEENBARZ
subsidiary for certain projects, of which approximately HK$410,000 EZRITIME THEBEEAENET  HPY
will be recovered after one year in accordance with the relevant 410,000 TG IRIBAE S R —F &I
contracts. [B] o
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Ageing analysis
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

receivables, based on the date of progress certificate or the date of
billing, is as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

15. RS REMEKRRE - ek EfT

RIR(#])

BRI 2T
RREER - RIBEEEEDPNAE A
{EH 0 SR KFRBRE DATAN T

As at 31 May

RER=+—H
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Within 1 month 118 A A 19,880 14,946
1 to 2 months 12218 A 1,465 9,844
2 to 3 months 2Z3{E A 297 379
21,642 25,169

Trade receivables are generally due within 60 days from the date
of progress certificate or the date of billing. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables
are set out in Note 22(a).
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16. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

17.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

As at 31 May 2022, the Group had deposits placed with a bank of
HK$10,000,000 (2021: HKSNil) for the surety bond issued by the
bank in favour of provision of marine construction works to one
customer (see Note 23).

Pledged bank deposits carried a fixed-rate interest at 1% per annum
as at 31 May 2022.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 22(a).

16. EEHBITHER

R-E-_—_FHA=+—8  K&EBEAF
—EREPREESEREETIEMABITFA
10,000,000 T(ZZ = —F : TEITL)ER
IRITH EMRES (RMFE23) -

R-E-_—FHRA=+—H ' BEHRTE
FIREEFFE1%T L ©

ERHEFEE N EE22() °

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH 17. e R EEFRVE AR ETE

FLOW INFORMATION 'H
(@) Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated (a) ZREMBRRARRBERERTH
statements of financial position and cash flows ReERREEEYEIE
comprise:
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CF T %
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FET FET
Deposit with a bank IRITIER 30,192 80,080
Cash at bank RITIHE 44,989 44,437
75,181 124,517

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash
generated from operations:

(b) RBAGERNELERSRETNY
iR :
Year ended 31 May
BERERA=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—=== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T F&TT
Profit before taxation B B BT A 20,174 45,435
Adjustments for: BATSIBEL A -
Depreciation e 10,553 7,923
Finance costs SUECID®N 63 209
Bank interest income RITH B A (299) (104)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment & RE N X&) E 12 472 15
Gain on termination of lease LIPS 2 W - (45)
Listing expenses Bailich- - 3,358
Changes in working capital: HEEFE
Decrease/(increase) in contract deposits, A4 E - BHEEUNE S RE
contract assets and trade and other W RIE ~ e RTEFRIR
receivables, deposits and prepayments  Jgi4>, (3 0) 15,817 (32,316)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI TEFIG M (10,000) -
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B REMEMRECRD), 0
other payables (24,816) 14,788
Cash generated from operations EEMBNES 11,964 39,263
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH 17. RERRSER/YREMRERE

FLOW INFORMATION (Cont’d) FHE(E)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () METERELEEENYHEE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from Tﬁgitx’i EmEIemELEnas
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. % ) RIEESNIFREEE - @B
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for EEEANABEARE S RENANRE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified ShERNAERGAEESRERTHE
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash BREERSELENEESRE -

flows from financing activities.

Lease liabilities Total
HEARE st
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERr TER
(Note 19)
(HraE19)
At 1 June 2021 R=%=-—-%~A-B 1623 1623
Changes from financing cash flows: BMERSRESE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERNHERSERT S (614) (614)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERHEERS TS (63) (63)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERSASROER ©n (677)
Other change: Hi2g
Interest expenses (see Note 6(a)) FBEH (R KIE6(@) 63 63
Totalotherchange ... & Afesees % 8
At 31 May 2022 NR-EB-_-_EFA=+—H 1,009 1,009
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17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH
FLOW INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Cont’d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

17. i@ RBSFRMR AR SRR

®WH(\)

(0 REZDARELESBENHIR(E)

Bank loan Lease liabilities Total
RITER MEARE FeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET T
(Note 19)
(FizE19)
At 1 June 2020 R-B-2F£XA—-H 6,732 531 7,263
Changes from financing cash flows: BERLHRESRT
Repayment of bank loan ERRITER (6,732) - (6,732)
Bank loan interest paid ERFITERTE (164) - (164)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEERSELRTS - (464) (464)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEREERST S - (45) (45)
Total changes from financing cash flows B34 R EL B4 (6,896) (509) (7,405)
Other changes: Hiv#s
Interest expenses (see Note 6(a)) FEZH (R FE6(@) 164 45 209
Increase in lease liabilities from entering FRNzI LHAENHERE
new lease during the year 20 - 1,824 1,824
Termination of lease RIEEE - (268) (268)
Total other changes Hith & Bpaazt 164 1,601 1,765
At 31 May 2021 RIE--FHA=+- - 1,623 1,623
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH
FLOW INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

(e)

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows
for leases comprise the following:

17. i@ RBSFERMR AR STE

®WH(R)
(d) HERSRHARE

SPAmEHeRERCHESR

TRE -

BEREN

Year ended 31 May
BELA=T-HLEFE

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within financing cash flows BEREREA 677 509

These amounts relate to the lease rentals paid during the years
ended 31 May 2022 and 2021.

Major non-cash transactions

Financing activities

During the year ended 31 May 2021, an interim dividend
of HK$40,000,000 was declared by the Company to its then
equity shareholder in October 2020 and approximately
of HK$29,891,000 was set off against “Amount due from a
director”, which was included in trade and other receivables
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

HESEANE T FR T
FRAST-ALFEzEERGA

B o

(e) TEHHREXRS
BEZE

REE-_T-_—FHEA=1+—HILHF
B ARRER-_ZE-_ZTEHE+ATK
R HA A% £.40,000,00078 7T 7 & & B RS

R

#729,891,000/% JT & & 18 1K i

[BR—RESFFHAIGE  HEFFA

A MBI R R 5 R fh el

g o
18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18. HH R A MEMART
As at 31 May

REA=+—H
2022 2021
—E=-= —T—F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Trade payables B EMNRR 18,785 33,768
Retention payables ErRRE S 1,103 11,309
Accrued charges and other payables JEET B A K E A fE S 508 3,548 3,175
23,436 48,252
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

At 31 May 2022 and 2021, the amount of retention payables
expected to be settled after more than one year was approximately
HK$859,000 and HK$2,794,000 respectively. All of the other trade
and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as
income within one year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade

18. RS RHEMEMRIF(E)

KRB —FR-_F-_—FHA=+—8 -
BN —FUREENENREE2DBL
£5859,0007%8 7T % 2,794,000 7T ° AT A E b
B 5 REAMENFIEKR —F NS I ER
BWA S BIRERKEE -

BEREHR  ENBEZEHNEZENEK
2

payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: REEWS DTN -
As at 31 May
REA=+—8H
2022 2021
—E-F —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Within 1 month 118 A A 10,412 25,989
1 to 2 months 122ME A 4,236 7,779
2 to 3 months 2% 31{E A = =
3 to 6 months 3% 6fE A 4,137 =
18,785 33,768
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

19. LEASE LIABILITIES 19. HERARK
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of THREIWAEBRNHEBGER GRS LD H
the Group'’s lease liabilities: B :
31 May 2022 31 May 2021
ZB--fHA=+—-RB —T-_—FAA=1+—H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

RIEESE REEE RIEHEE RIEHEE
RBE L R E R 4ERR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET TET TET

IR cT—— 45 ] - - L S T
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&BE2F A 364 368 645 677
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBBESFR - - 364 368
e~ €4 IO
1,009 1,045 1,623 1,722
Less: total future interest expenses Ji : KA S48 H (36) (99)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAaENHRE 1,009 1,623
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

20. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

(b)

(c)

financial position represents:

20. RS MBIRARPHFRFR

(a) #REBHEARR R P AYENHIBLIRLS -

As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2022 2021
—E—= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for FREBFEHEE
the year 1,732 7,114
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating BEFENSHEBELSS
to prior years 762 1,104
Tax payable JERHIE 2,494 8,218

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

Movement of deferred tax liabilities

The component of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the

movements during the year are as follows:

(b) ERRELBIREE
FEHERELE
FAREGE P HAR K HERHELET
RAEERE Y REBIMT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FH&IT
Deferred tax arising from depreciation HBHAETENITEREEEN
allowances in excess of the related RIETIA -
depreciation:
At the beginning of the year REF] 5,582 5,047
Charged to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) PR (7)) 1,768 535
At the end of the year RER 7,350 5,582

Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 May 2022 and 2021, the Group
unrecognised deferred tax assets.

has no material

() RERELEFBEEE
N E - —FER T —FRA=1+—
B ANEESESEKRERETCTHE
BE °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(@) Movement in components of equity (a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of

21. BERGEM

R #E
AEBGE R BARED 8 EY) K
KRB FHNERAN AR EE B R
A e REMRFR - AR B E 5
AERCER D B ENESIEAT -

equity between the beginning and the end of the year are

set out below:

(Accumulated

losses)
Share Share Retained
capital premium profits Total
(RitER)
N B aE REEA -
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz T T T T
Balance at 1 June 2020 RZBZBERA-HH
2] =/ - 9) 9)
Changes in equity for 2020/21: —E-E/--FEEW
ER%2E:
Profit and total comprehensive income FREFRZAkRRERE
for the year - - 40,072 40,072
Capitalisation issue BAME 21(b)(ii) 16,680 (16,680) = =
Issuance of shares under the IPO BRLFRRETRG  21(0)i) 5,560 98,448 - 104,008
Dividends declared in respect of the current year ~ BIAFEERES 10 - - (40,000) (40,000)
Balance at 31 May 2021 R-B--%1R
=k 22,240 81,768 63 104,071
Balance at 1 June 2021 RZB=-F5xF-H
ifeay 22,240 81,768 63 104,071
Changes in equity for 2021/22: S /CCFEN
BR%E:
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRBRREERISE
for the year - - (2,727) (2,727)
Dividends approved in respect of the previous year 7t —FEftERS 10 - (24,998) - (24,998)
Balance at 31 May 2022 S
=t-BW&R 22,240 56,770 (2,664) 76,346

* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont’d) 21. B KGR (8)
(b) Share capital (b) A
2022 2021
—E-C —E--F
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RA#E £t LG £ ]
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
iz TR TEL
Authorised ordinary shares BREBOBTNEE
of HK$0.01 each LER
At the beginning of year REF] 3,000,000,000 30,000 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital EERAEM (i) - - 2,962,000,000 29,620
At the end of the year RER 3,000,000,000 30,000  3,000,000,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid ordinary SREBNBINEET
shares of HK$0.01 each REREER
At the beginning of the year REF 2,224,000,000 22,240 2 =
Capitalisation Issue (as defined in EREBT(ERRTX
Note (ii) below) (i) (i) - - 1667999998 16,680
Issuance of shares under the IPO BRLRBRETRA )] - - 556,000,000 5,560
At the end of the year RER 2,224,000,000 22,240 2,224,000,000 22,240
*  The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000. * EERRIELPN,0008 TR R EE ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont’'d)
(b) Share capital (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of
the Company passed on 13 November 2020, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000
to HK$30,000,000 by the creation of 2,962,000,000 additional
ordinary shares, each ranking pari passu with the Company’s
ordinary shares then in issue in all respects.

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the
Company passed on 13 November 2020, a total of 1,667,999,998
shares were allotted and issued, credited as fully paid at par, to
Yue Hang Investment Limited by way of capitalisation of a sum
of HK$16,680,000 standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”) on the date
of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange.

On 7 December 2020, 556,000,000 ordinary shares were issued
at a price of HK$0.225 each upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange. The proceeds of HK$5,560,000,
representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share
capital. The remaining proceeds of approximately HK$98,448,000,
net of the share issuance expenses of HK$21,092,000, directly
attributable to the issuance of shares, were credited to the share
premium account.
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(b) BRA(4&)
GEX

(0]

(i)

(iii)

BEAAFE—BRERA_Z_TF+
—AT-HRBZEERER B
AN 25 2,962,000,000 % L @AE - A
A A% TE A% 75 380,000/ T in =
30,000,000/87C * BRARMDEFRE HE
HARNBEREETHTBR=ER
FHT o

BEBEAQNFKE—RER-_ZE_ZF+
—A+=-HBBZEERER INA
RAEIRMRBZAT EMmHEE - AR
» AR5 4 B BR /9 3 R %816,680,000
BILEFTRE AT NILHEE R Yue Hang
Investment Limited it 3 &z 2174 £
1,667,999,998 % A BR 51 1 81 2 89 % {9
([EARRIT]) -

RIE-_TF+-A+tH ARFK
13 P 22 BT _E 1 BF 817 556,000,000 A%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont’d)

()

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserve
Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount of the
excess of the nominal value of shares of a company now
comprising the Group over the nominal value of one share of
the Company exchanged as part of the group reorganisation
prior to the completion of the IPO of the Company.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for its shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing
ratio as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
lease liabilities only. Total equity comprises all components
of equity. The Group's strategy was to maintain the gearing
ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain the gearing
ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing or
sell assets to reduce debt.

21. BER G ()

(c)

(d)

REMEERE®

&R

B HREEEB AR A EEE R ANR
EEBLIESNRARTERAFRBR
SEA BT A AR SE B E A — 0 M A A
N~ EER B -

BEXER
AEBEREANEEBREARERE
ERFEREne)  USHREBRHRE
FE R 7K P 2 B on SR TS TE (B A & 32
RARGERE @ 158 BBRT RKE &K
R REAF D BB o

AEEESYEHRAREEELEAR
B AERSE KT 8w R A8
= IR 0 3R ER AR 2 B AR P 7 SR 0B
B RRE 2 FEREFE - W LEN
MBEEEARRBIEHFE -

AEEREERBHLRERAEARAR
B Rl AEERTEEABLE
REEHGHRARDRER - BEKER
RHEEAE RIAHEERERENAAN
BHAKED - AREHRESERE
EREBELEREEKE -BTHEE
ERELE  AREARRETK
ROBREE®E  BITHRND - UHE
BREINEEENRMDES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B # R R K=

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont’d)
(d) Capital management (Cont’d)
The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 May 2022 and 2021 was as

21. BER G (&)
(d) EXREE(E)
NR_E - —FR-_E-—FRA=1+—

follows: B AEBEWEESGEREAT :
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2022 2021
—EC-CF —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Current liability: mEALE
Lease liabilities HEAE 645 614
Non-current liability: ERBBIE
Lease liabilities HEBE 364 1,009
Total debt EiHEEE 1,009 1,623
Total equity SRR 193,479 201,793
Gearing ratio EESELER 1% 1%

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) requires contractors on the
list of approved contractors for public works (the “List”) to
maintain such minimum working capital as the Government
may from time to time determine (the “Required Minimum
Working Capital”). A subsidiary of the Company is subject to
the Required Minimum Working Capital as the subsidiary is a
contractor on the List. Except for this, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed
capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to contract
deposits, trade receivables and contract assets. The Group'’s
exposure to credit risk arising from pledged bank deposits and
bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with sound credit ratings, for which
the Group considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Contract deposits

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from refundable
contract deposits is considered to be low, taking into account
the relevant customers’ good payment record and long
established relationship with the Group.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At 31 May 2022, 10% (2021: 16%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets were due from the Group’s
largest customer and 66% (2021: 88%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets were due from the Group’s
five largest customers.

22. e EREEREMI AN AFHE

AEBREREBBEFAZEE  RBE
EMERERRR - AEBEAZZERRK
AEEEEZERARARAN S HERERE
HR M EREN T

(a) FER

FERBIERRZE T ABTEITEY
EEMEBERAEBREZYEEENER
R AEENEERBREEZEREEAY
¢  BZRERWHEREHEE - &
SEREEBRITTRMIRITEGET
MEERBRAER - VAR ZHEH A%
EEEZEEFIRMNBEITRYEHE
TEERBEERBERIE -

AEEY EREREMAERREAREE
REBREOFELR

BHRS

M RABBRS RS REA
EEEAHRTOME - AREETE
BANREEZ N EEAREEALT
X -

ESEKFGEREHNEE
AEEMAXNEERBREEZSR
FHRERNEEFE MU IERERF
FiSEMTESFMENRE - At E
AEBAZERNRFHNEXNRRE
BEEREETHEERR - RN=2F
T —EFA=+-—HB BZEKFE
MAMBEETENI0% (T - —4F
16%) A E AR AR F /) E WK
H MEBZEKFEBRENEERR
766% (—Z——14F : 88%) HAEEH
AREFHERFIA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont'd)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d)

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of the
acceptance procedures for new contracts. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
The Group generally requires customers to settle progress
and final billings in accordance with contracted terms. Trade
receivables are generally due within 60 days from the date of
progress certificate or the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

In view of the customers’ good payment record and long
established relationships with the Group, management
does not consider the Group’s credit risk to be significant.
In addition, management consider those not credit-impaired
trade receivables were collectible based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Therefore, allowance for impairment
was insignificant and thus negligible to be made. Further
quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables is set out in Note 15.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover the expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed funding lines from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22. eMEAREEREMTAMNLTFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) (#8)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) REESER(E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities TRIEAEEN SR AENREER
at the end of the reporting period of the Group's financial M TEARBER  LHREEH
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash RAMBReRE(BIEERENT R (B
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual FE 0 BIRBERHmERRREFIZ)
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the STEF B RARE B R E KA
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be HHORFEHHmMEL °

required to pay.

31 May 2022
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
“E_ZERA=1-H
BRARERALDRH

More than ~ More than Carrying
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or less than lessthan  More than 31 May
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2022
R
ZECCF
BE1F  BEF %A
1FAs  BFEB  ETESE Sr=[¢
BRER 25 54 Bl#sF axt WEREE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TERT TR TR TR TR TR

Trade and other payables BH5 REMEMNTR 23,436 - - - 23,436 23,436
Lease liabilities HEARE 677 368 - - 1,045 1,009
24,113 368 - - 24,481 24,445
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22. eEREEREMTAMNLTFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) (#8)
(b) Liquidity risk (Cont’d) (b) REVELERE(E)
31 May 2021
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
“Z-_-5hA=1T—H
BHARBER AL
More than ~ More than Carrying
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than 31 May
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2021
i
“E-—F
HiB1F fRiB2F 1A
1A% BT8R ETES =t-8
REX 26 5 RS @t WEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Trade and other payables B REMENTKIE 48,252 - - - 48,252 48,252
Lease liabilities HERRE 677 677 368 - 1722 1,623
48,929 677 368 - 49,974 49,875
(c) Interest rate risk () AIZRE B

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, the Group
has no variable rates borrowing that exposes the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by the management is set out below.

Interest expense derived therefrom is relatively insignificant to
the Group’s operations, and the Group’s income and operating
cash flows are less dependent on changes in market interest
rates. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group does not have significant cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk, and no sensitivity analysis is
performed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

22. eEARETEREMTI AN LFHE
(#)
() RI=mp(HE)

Interest rate profile ViEL 9
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TREINN RS RN E B G FRARZER
Group's total borrowings at the end of the reporting period: EEREFES
31 May 2022 31 May 2021
TR CFRA=+-B E-_—FHEHA=1+—H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BRR= S EEREME ©F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH&TT
Fixed rate borrowings: EE M EEK
Lease liabilities HERE BF 1,009 BF 1,623
5% 5%
per annum per annum

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in foreign exchange rates.

The Group’s currency risk primarily relates to the Group’s
operating activities whose settlements and payments are
denominated in foreign currencies which are different from
the respective group entity’s functional currency.

The foreign currency assets and liabilities held by the Group
are not material compared to the total assets and liabilities.
In terms of the Group’s operating structure, the majority of
the business transactions are denominated in HKS, and the
proportion of foreign currency transactions is not significant
to the Group. The Group considers that the currency risk of
the Group’s operations is immaterial due to the relatively
low proportion of the Group's foreign currency denominated
assets, liabilities, income and expenses, as compared to the
Group's total assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Hence,
no further analysis is presented.

(d) E¥ER
ERERETRIAND FESREKR
SRERIMNEEXZBMKBNRERE

74 5 B 0 55 75 L B 2 5 5 4 B DA 5
EHER T E RN R SR ED A
EREEY T [T
R o

AEBERBENIINEEERABRRBEE
RBEMRLEFEKR - LAREHE
BREMS  ABDIEBRXZAET
FHE - MINER F 0 I 8 A & E i
FYTEKR - AKERE - HRAK

BHINEHEEE - BfF - WARFH
XIEAEEREE - BE - WAKR
XL OIEEERIE - AR EEBH

ERERIEAEKN - Bt - WEZT
DT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

23

24,

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(e) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 May 2022 and 2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 May 2022, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of
surety bonds to guarantee for the due and proper performance of
the obligations undertaken by the Group’s subsidiary for projects
amounting to approximately HK$179,813,000 (2021: HKS$Nil) in its
ordinary course of business. If the Group fails to provide proper
performance, the customers may demand the Group to pay them the
sum or sums pursuant to the contracts. The maximum exposure to
the surety bonds was approximately HK$20,410,000 (2021: HKSNil),
which is the same as the carrying amount of the surety bonds given.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the Company
do not consider it is probable that any claims will be made against
the Group and the surety bonds are expected to be released in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with its related parties during the year.

Key management personnel remuneration

All members of key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company and their remuneration is disclosed in
Note 8.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ 7 8 %= Mi &

25. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

25. AFIREMBHRAER

POSITION
As at 31 May
REA=1+—H
2022 2021
B T —%
Note HK$’000 HKS$’000
Bt FHET FET
Non-current asset REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZI&E 13 —* —*
Current assets REEE
Prepayment SEANE S 9 9
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUR BB A R 2 FRIE 69,200 93,884
Cash and cash equivalents REMRESEEY 7,822 10,652
77,031 104,545
Accrued expenses TEIRE M 685 474
Net current assets RBEEFE 76,346 104,071
NET ASSETS EEFE 76,346 104,071
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRf#E 21
Share capital [} &S 22,240 22,240
Reserves B 54,106 81,831
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 76,346 104,071

* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

August 2022.

@ LEERTE L IN,0008 TS 58 -

RCZE-—FNA=t—HEESZSHER
AT o

Heung Che Kan Heung Yue Wing

Bk @34 K
Director Director
EE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} # sk R K=

26. IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

27.

PARTY

At 31 May 2022, the directors consider the immediate parent of the
Group to be Yue Hang Investment Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

The directors consider the ultimate controlling party of the Group
to be Mr. Heung Che Kan.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY
2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, and a new standard, HKFRS
17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 May 2022 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

26. HEB AR R REEEKRS

RZEZZFHRA=+—H EFRAARX
£ B/ E Q7 AYue Hang Investment
Limited » % 2 A1 00 2 B B & AF & 5 M BX
o REBERBURGEHAFNIBHREK

E=ZRARAEENZRRERT RAEDHE
/_:E o

27. 8FE_SE"_"FHRA=+—HILHF
ECHAHGEMKREXNHESTE -
ST RRETRREENRE

EERSUBERRTIEAE &S
eREmETEHE _T-—_FHA=1+—H
IHFEHMAERBETERZSEMEREF R
MEUERT A R FT R R BB SRS 2ERIE
1757 REBRE4) - ZSREBRIE TR aEH
AEEEBE -

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on
or after

RTF Bz &
sz et HEEN

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
conceptual framework

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous contracts —
cost of fulfilling a contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting
estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction
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27. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 27. BE-B__FAA=1+—HILF

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT EEHFERRENMETF
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY EARRETEEENRE(E)
2022 (Cont'd)
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the REEREFTMZEEREANERER
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of HEBAFE - 255 HERATNZIE
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of ANEET AT KA R & ISR EEE X
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated B o

financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY 57 #4812

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the NEBRERABATEENREE  BENLEGE
last five financial years is as follows. BMEHLT o
Year ended 31 May
BERA=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—BoCF —T-—F —F-FF —T-NF —FTNE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T BT FHEIT FHT
RESULTS ¥E
Revenue Wz 212,285 345,618 313,650 297,302 269,630
Gross profit EH 30,212 56,012 51,034 52,837 42,728
Profit before taxation BR 5 A A 20,174 45,435 34,870 36,123 39,325
Profit and total comprehensive A%l & 2 MU zE
income for the year k) 16,684 37,635 28,113 28,752 32,988
As at 31 May
REA=+-—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E_—fF B ZEBTF —T-NEF ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT BT FHT FHT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets BEE 227,768 265,468 152,341 140,305 118,575
Total liabilities BEE 34,289 63,675 52,191 58,268 65,290
Net assets BEFE 193,479 201,793 100,150 82,037 53,285
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